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	JEROME C. DENNIS, 

                         Employee,
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FINAL

DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200413260
AWCB Decision No.  08-0151  

Filed with AWCB Juneau, Alaska

on August 22, 2008


On April 15, 2008 at Juneau, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (board) heard the employer’s petition to dismiss the employee’s claims for TTD and medical benefits under
AS 23.30.110(c); the employer’s petition for review of the Rehabilitation Benefits Administrator’s (RBA) decision to refer for eligibility determination; and the employee’s claims, as amended, for workers’ compensation benefits.  The employee was represented by attorney Thomas Slagle of Juneau.  Attorney Krista Schwarting, Griffin & Smith, of Anchorage, represented the employer and its insurer (referred to below as “employer”).  We closed the evidentiary record at the conclusion of the April 15, 2008 hearing, reopened it to receive certain records accompanying the employee’s post hearing brief on May 29, 2008, and, after receiving post-hearing reply briefs, we closed the record when we next met on July 15, 2008.

ISSUES
(1) 
Whether the employee's claims for TTD and medical benefits are barred by the statute of limitations of AS 23.30.110(c)?

(2) 
Whether there is substantial evidence to support the RBA’s decision to refer for re-employment benefits eligibility determination?

(3) 
Whether the employee has shown entitlement to benefits under his claims?

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND


A.  Summary of workplace events and relevant medical history:

The employee worked for the employer as a carpenter/laborer on September 13, 2004
 when he reported injury to his mid-back while carrying multiple 4’ x 9’ sheets of sheetrock (weighing 80-100 lbs. each) up a flight of stairs.
  The employee sought medical care on September 14, 2004.
  The employee received pain and other medications and physical therapy using a variety of modalities, with at times temporary relief but not permanent relief.  Examination of MRI imaging on September 16, 2004 of the thoracic and lumbar spine, three days after the reported injury, was read as showing “mild-to-moderate neural foraminal narrowing” on the left side at L4-5, and a posterior disc/osteophyte complex and bilateral facet hypertrophy with some impingement of the S1 nerve root at L5-S1, but with no abnormalities of the thoracic spine.
  The employee was initially released from returning to work for 3-4 days,
 which was extended to another week,
 and then the release was extended for an additional 2-4 weeks for physical therapy.
  The employee’s report of continuing thoracic pain had not resolved by early December 2004, the physical therapist noting continued trigger points and muscle spasms with only temporary relief from pain after physical therapy.

On January 1, 2005, the employee reported slipping and falling while fighting a fire in his house.
  

On February 4, 2005, the employee underwent an employer-sponsored independent medical examination (“EIME”) by Patrick Radecki, MD, who made numerous observations of “non-physiologic” signs and symptoms, opined that the employee had experienced at most a temporary thoracic strain and a “questionable lumbar strain” on September 13, 2004, and that the employee’s then-current symptoms were “due to psychosocial factors.”
  Dr. Radecki noted that the “claimant may have had a strain carrying sheet rock, but it resolved.  What he has now is a pain syndrome due to psychosocial factors.”  Dr. Radecki expressed the opinion that the employee was medically stable, with no permanent impairment as a result of the July 2004, August 2004, or September 13, 2004 workplace events, and that the employee could return to work without limitations.
  Following this EIME report, the employer controverted all benefits.

On referral from the Alaska Department of Labor & Workforce Development, Division of Vocational Rehabilitation (“DVR”),
 the employee was examined by John Bursell, MD on


June 27, 2005, who noted the continuing reports of thoracic pain, and recommended a “directed physical therapy program to work on spinal mobilization and a postural exercise program.”


Dr. Bursell completed a physical capacities evaluation opining that the employee was limited to 3-5 hours of standing/walking, and 3-5 hours sitting, able to lift up to 10 pounds frequently,


11-20 pounds occasionally, without any other identified restrictions.
  

From February 2005 through July 2006, the employee continued with physical therapy and pain medications through the SEARHC system,
 Juneau Physical Therapy group (on referral from SEARHC), and at Bartlett Regional Hospital’s Emergency Department, with the employee reporting continuing pain and muscle spasms, sometimes reported with attribution to specific exacerbating events but all ultimately attributed by the employee to the original workplace injury.
  MRI performed on June 12, 2006 were read as normal for the thoracic spine, with degenerative disc disease with disc protrusions at L4-5 and L5-S1.
  Some of the employee’s medical care was covered by Medicaid,
 although the record does not reveal the basis for the employee’s eligibility for Medicaid.

On August 8, 2006, the employee was again seen by Dr. Bursell, on self-referral.
  Dr. Bursell diagnosed thoracic pain, recommended continuing physical therapy and prescribed Celebrex.
  After a review of the employee’s medical records, on September 16, 2006 Dr. Bursell noted results of MRI studies and recommended a bone scan.
  We have no record that a bone scan was ever performed.

On September 21, 2006, Dr. Bursell prepared a note, stating:

To Whom it May Concern:

I have evaluated Jerome Dennis in clinic regarding a back injury and ongoing back pain.  His history was reviewed with him, and is consistent with having a work injury as the cause of his ongoing back pain problems.  I have recommended that he re-open his Workers Compensation claim regarding his back injury so that he can receive further treatment and evaluation as necessary.

Dr. Bursell’s September 21, 2006 note was filed with the board on September 28, 2006, but on the present record the panel is unable to verify receipt by the board any earlier than that; the note appears to have been faxed from Dr. Bursell’s office on September 21, 2006 but to whom is unclear on the present record.

On October 16, 2006, Dr. Bursell wrote a second note, again “To Whom it May Concern,” stating:

I have evaluated Jerome Dennis for thoracic back pain from thoracic strain.


Mr. Dennis suffered a thoracic strain while at work on 9/13/04.  I have reviewed the Independent Medical Evaluation which was performed by Dr. Radecki on 2/4/05 as well as medical records provided by his primary care provider at the SEARHC medical clinic.  The primary care provider records are consistent with a diagnosis of chronic thoracic strain.  Dr. Radecki concluded that while


Mr. Dennis did suffer a thoracic injury on 9/13/04 he had recovered from this injury by 9/17/04 or within a day or two of that.  He also concluded that this patient’s ongoing pain complaints were due to psychosocial factors.  Physical examination of this patient in my clinic has been consistent with a chronic thoracic strain.  While there may be underlying psychosocial matters I am unable to [sic] I do not think that this patient has psychogenic thoracic back pain.  It is most likely that Mr. Dennis’ thoracic back pain is due to the work injury of 9/13/04, and that he should be treated with an aggressive rehabilitation program with the goal of return to work either as a carpenter, or if this is not possible to a lighter duty position.  This may well require treatment in a work hardening program and Vocational Rehabilitation given the duration of time off work and the heavy nature of the work that he has performed in the past.

Dr. Bursell’s October 16, 2006 note was filed by the employee with the board on or before October 24, 2006.

The employee continued to treat with Dr. Bursell throughout 2006 and 2007.
  On February 6, 2007, the employee was discharged from physical therapy at Juneau Physical Therapy, after his inability to attend since December 4, 2006,
 but the employee was seen for physical therapy at Dr. Bursell’s clinic later in 2007.
  The employee testified that he was dissatisfied with treatment at SEARHC, and called the employer’s counsel for assistance in obtaining a referral.

Dr. Radecki evaluated the employee again on January 19, 2007.  Dr. Radecki reviewed updated medical records, and examined the employee, and came to similar conclusions as in his February 2005 report, finding also diffuse tenderness in the neck that he concluded was non-physiologic, with similar ranges of motion of thoracic and lumbar spine as measured in February 2005.



Dr. Radecki concluded:

Mr. Dennis’s [sic] widespread tenderness certainly cannot be indicative of a localized pain that would cause persistent complaints for three years.  Multiple imaging studies of the thoracic region are negative.  There is no injury that would cause tenderness of all spinous process from T1 through T12, yet Mr. Dennis has pain throughout that entire region to palpation.

An SIME examination was conducted by Alan C. Roth, MD on April 27, 2007, and Dr. Roth submitted a report dated May 30, 2007.  Dr. Roth examined the employee and reviewed his medical records, including Dr. Radecki’s February 2005 report, but apparently not Dr. Radecki’s January 2007 report.
  Dr. Roth also reviewed the 2004 and 2006 MRI films as well as the previous reports on those films.
  Dr. Roth did not cite review of, and we do not find in the SIME Medical Records, any of Dr. Bursell’s treatment notes after December 5, 2006, even though the employer’s counsel knew by January 2007 that the employee considered Dr. Bursell his primary physician for care of the workplace injuries.
  Dr. Roth diagnosed the employee with degenerative lumbosacral disc disease, and chronic thoracic and lumbosacral strain.


Dr. Roth opined that the reported workplace injury was a substantial factor in the employee’s need for treatment and disability, and that the workplace injury “lit-up a quiescent pre-existing condition.”  Dr. Roth opined the employee was medically stable as of February 4, 2005 (when examined by Dr. Radecki),
 with a 5% whole person impairment under DRE Lumbosacral Level II of the AMA Guides, 5th edition, and opined that two lumbosacral epidural blocks per year for the next two years, without further narcotics, would be medically appropriate.  Dr. Roth opined that discograms, lumbar fusion, laminectomies, any other type of surgery, acupuncture or chiropractic care were not needed at that time.
  It is recited that a copy of Dr. Roth’s report was mailed to the employee at PO Box 20086, Juneau, Alaska 99891, the insurer, and the employer’s counsel at Griffin and Smith, as well as the original that was addressed to the board.

Dr. Bursell recited in a June 12, 2007 chart note that the employee provided him with a copy of Dr. Roth’s report on that date, and that Dr. Bursell reviewed it.
  Dr. Bursell has continued to treat the employee, including referral to Marco Wen, MD, for thoracic facet joint injections on August 6, 2007, September 10, 2007, November 21, 2007, and December 10, 2007, and facet rhizotomy procedure (denervation, also referred to as radiofrequency nerve ablation, or RFA) at T6-8 on October 8, 2007.
  After this procedure, a physical therapist noted:

What a miracle the rhyzotomy [sic] was for Jerome!  How exciting to see him able to move like a normal person and not cringe in pain all the time.  I anticipate that he will be able to fully strengthen his core and extremities now without complications.

Although the employee reported a return of some pain, he reported 75% pain reduction.
  The employee continued to report pain at other joint levels, and after temporary relief from facet joint injections, the employee underwent another RFA procedure at T11-12 and T12-L1.
 

The employee underwent epidural steroid injections at L4-5 on March 3, 2008.
  The most current chart note from Dr. Bursell on March 18, 2008 noted the employee continued to experience pain in his low back, and had taken too many pain relievers during the week of March 10, 2008, and was taken to the emergency room after a loss of consciousness.  Narcotics were discontinued at that time.  The employee denied this was a suicide attempt; Dr. Bursell noted the employee reported five recent deaths of the employee’s friends and family.
  The employee had been treated with amitriptyline, a medication frequently used to treat depression,
 since at least July 12, 2006.

In a letter prepared on March 11, 2008 to the employer’s attorney, Dr. Bursell disagreed with


Dr. Roth’s report as to the date of medical stability and percentage impairment.  Dr. Bursell opined the date of medical stability did not occur until February 25, 2008, after the most recent RFA procedure:

The date of medical stability is very difficult for me to determine as he has required ongoing treatment of his back pain with thoracic facet injections and subsequent radiofrequency nerve ablation procedure along with periodic lumbar epidural steroid injections to treat his low back pain with sciatica.  Determination of the date of medical stability in this case is somewhat arbitrary, and I would put it at the time when his pain was under relatively good control following radiofrequency nerve ablation for treatment of thoracic back pain which did not occur until 2/25/08.

Dr. Bursell rated the employee under the AMA Guides, 5th edition, with an 8% impairment for the thoracic condition, and an 8% impairment for the lumbar condition, for a combined impairment rating of 15%.


B.  Summary of procedural history of claims and petitions:

The employee filed his first claim, seeking TTD “from September 13, 2004” and unspecified medical costs on October 1, 2004.
  A pre-hearing conference was scheduled for November 2, 2004 by Workers’ Compensation Officer (WCO) Bruce Dalrymple.
  The employer answered on October 28, 2004, admitting the employee’s claim for TTD, noting that TTD benefits had commenced as of September 14, 2004, asserting that the “employer/adjuster have paid all medical costs submitted to them” and denied entitlement to any further, unspecified medical costs.
  Mr. Dalrymple made a note to the file indicating “all benefits being paid[,] phg [prehearing conference] canceled.”
  

On December 8, 2004, the employer filed a controversion based on the allegation that the employee had failed to timely submit medical releases.
  On December 20, 2004, the employer rescinded this first controversion, acknowledging receipt of the requested releases.

The employer filed a second controversion on February 15, 2005, based on Dr. Radecki’s February 4, 2005 EIME report.
  The front side of the controversion form, across the top, reads:
EMPLOYEE: READ IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT YOUR RIGHTS ON BACK.

These words appear to be in Time New Roman font, bolded, size 14 and 12.  On the back side of the form, in what appears to be Times New Roman font, size 12 and 10, are the following words:

TO EMPLOYEE (OR OTHER CLAIMANTS IN CASE OF DEATH): READ CAREFULLY

·  . . .  You must also request a timely hearing before the AWC Board (see time limits below).  The AWC Board provides the ÀAffidavit [sic] of Readiness For Hearing@ [sic] form for this purpose.  Get forms from the nearest AWC Board Office listed below.

· * * *

· TIME LIMITS
1. When must you file a written claim?

a.
Compensation Payments.

You will lose your right to compensation payments unless you file a written claim within two years of the date you know the nature of your disability and its connection with your employment and after disablement. If the insurer/employer voluntarily paid compensation, you must file a written claim within two years of the last payment.

b.  Death Benefits.

You will lose your right to death benefits unless you file a written claim within one year of the employee=s [sic] death.  There are however, rare exceptions.

c. 
Medical Benefits.

There is no time limit for filing a claim for medical benefits. If the insurer/employer stops medical payments, and if you believe you need more treatment, you must make a written claim to request additional medical payments.  The law permits the insurer/employer to stop medical payments two years after your injury date, but the AWC Board can authorize additional medical payments if treatment is needed for the process of recovery.

2.   When must you request a hearing?

Within two years after the date the insurer/employer filed this controversion notice, you must request a hearing before the AWC Board.  You will lose your right to the benefits denied on the front of this form if you do not request a hearing within the two years.  Before requesting a hearing, you should file a written claim.

IF YOU ARE UNSURE WHETHER IT IS TOO LATE TO FILE A CLAIM OR REQUEST A HEARING, CONTACT THE NEAREST AWC BOARD OFFICE.

On February 18, 2005, a compensation report was filed indicating TTD payments were terminated, based on Dr. Radecki’s EIME report and the controversion, the employer having paid 22 weeks of TTD from October 15, 2004 to February 14, 2005.

The board’s file was quiescent until September 28, 2006, when the employee filed a claim for an SIME and for an award of PPI benefits “when rated.”  This second WCC does not expressly amend the earlier October 1, 2004 WCC.

On October 9, 2006, WCO Dalrymple issued a notice setting a pre-hearing conference for October 25, 2006.
  The board takes administrative notice that WCO Bruce Dalrymple died on October 18, 2006.
  We have no record of the October 25, 2006 pre-hearing conference having been conducted.

On October 25, 2006, the employer answered the October 1, 2004 WCC, asserting that the employee had not submitted current medical records, nor a written opinion from a treating physician that the employee was permanently impaired as a result of the September 13, 2004 work injury; and that because there were no medical records or medical opinions disputing


Dr. Radecki’s opinions, there was no medical dispute justifying an SIME under


AS 23.30.095(k).
  

Another pre-hearing conference was noticed for December 18, 2006 by an Anchorage WCO;
 but we have no summary of that pre-hearing conference, if it was held.  Another pre-hearing conference was noticed for January 18, 2007,
 and apparently not held due to the employee calling in late for the conference, but as of that date the parties agreed to an SIME.
  The basis for the SIME was


Dr. Radecki’s February 4, 2005 report, and Dr. Bursell’s October 16, 2006 note.

The employee was deposed on January 18, 2007.  At that time, he did not identify re-employment benefits as part of his claim, only PPI and an SIME.

At a pre-hearing conference held on February 13, 2007, the parties’ stipulation to an SIME was recited, and an SIME was ordered.
  After Dr. Roth’s SIME report was issued on May 30, 2007, a pre-hearing conference was scheduled for July 25, 2007.
  This was evidently re-scheduled as we have no pre-hearing conference summary reflecting that the conference was held.  Another pre-hearing conference scheduled for August 29, 2007 was re-scheduled for September 26, 2007 at the employer’s counsel’s request.
 The recitation of discussion at the September 26, 2007 pre-hearing was that the “parties are trying to resolve the disputes.”
  The PHC Summary included the following admonition:

The EE is reminded that, if a controversion notice is served and filed, after the date of his workers’ compensation claim, he must serve and file an affidavit, in accordance with 8 AAC 45.07-0, requesting a hearing within the time limits set by AS 23.30.110(c) to avoid a possible dismissal of his claim.  AS 23.30.110(c) provides: “If the employer controverts a claim on a board-prescribed controversion notice and the employee does not request a hearing within two years following the filing of the controversion notice, the claim is denied.”

This admonition is the first, and only, record we can find (other than the language on the reverse side of the controversion forms), that can be attributed to the Division of Workers’ Compensation advising the employee in writing or otherwise of the Section 110(c) deadline.

On October 11, 2007, attorney Thomas J. Slagle of Juneau entered his appearance for the employee, and filed an amended WCC the same day.
  This amended WCC specifically amended the employee’s prior October 1, 2004 claim, seeking unspecified medical expenses (“pending”), PPI, review of an RBA eligibility determination,
 and unspecified interest, late payment penalties, and attorneys fees and costs.
  The employee through counsel filed his Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing on November 9, 2007 on the Amended WCC.
  On December 19, 2007, the employee through counsel amended his claim yet again, to claim transportation costs associated with medical appointments, and TTD from February 15, 2005 through May 30, 2007.
  At a pre-hearing conference held on December 19, 2007, the employee’s counsel re-iterated this amendment to the claim.
  The matter was set for hearing on March 11, 2008 on the WCC as amended, and the employer’s defenses, including defense under AS 23.30.110(c).

The employer filed a petition to dismiss on December 20, 2007, asserting that the ARH filed by the employee was 28 days late under the AS 23.30.110(c) deadline, discounting the time period from October 3, 2006 (the date of service on the employer by the board of the employee’s claim form that sought an SIME) and May 30, 2007 (the date of Dr. Roth’s SIME report).

The employer filed a Revised Answer on January 10, 2008 that denied entitlement to PPI, TTD, medical benefits, and re-employment benefits on the basis of Dr. Radecki’s updated January 18, 2007 EIME report, as well as his original February 4, 2005 EIME report, and on other grounds.
  The employer filed another controversion on January 17, 2008.

The parties then proceeded for hearing on March 11, 2008, each party filing hearing briefs, under stipulation, on March 6, 2008.
  On March 10, 2008, the parties were advised that a conflict of interest had been identified by one of the Southeast panelists, and the parties were encouraged to focus evidence and argument on four sub-issues under the employer’s Section 110(c) defense.
  Later on March 10, the parties were advised that the remaining Southeast lay panelist had recused himself.  The parties appeared for the duly noticed March 11, 2008 hearing.  Although a quorum was technically present on that date, with the presiding hearing officer physically present and with Southcentral panelist Mr. Weel present by telephone, the employee objected to proceeding without at least a quorum of the panel physically present to observe the demeanor of witnesses, including the claimant.  The parties subsequently agreed (albeit reluctantly on the employee’s part, given his homelessness) to continue the hearing to April 15, 2008.
  Additional pre-hearing issues, including discovery, were addressed on April 3, 2008.
  The employee submitted a supplemental pre-hearing brief with additional exhibits.
  The employer submitted a supplemental pre-hearing brief with additional exhibits.

The continued hearing took place on April 15, 2008, with the participation of Southcentral panelists Patricia Vollendorf and Robert Weel.  Two witnesses testified: Mr. Dennis and Dr. Bursell (via videotaped deposition).  At the conclusion of taking that evidence, the board closed the evidentiary record on the parties’ pronouncement that they had completed submission of evidence, holding the record open for oral argument and post-hearing briefing.


1.  Summary of Jerome Dennis testimony

The employee testified that he did not graduate from high school, but obtained his GED while in the National Guard.
  The employee had engaged in construction his entire adult working life.
  He described the mode of injury on September 13, 2004.
  He testified he has been off work since that date.
  He testified that he tried to work after the injury, but could not work due to onset of intense pain in his mid-back.
  The employee testified that before the work event, he had physical hobbies such as canoe racing, running, weight-lifting, arm wrestling and basketball, which he has now abandoned.
  The employee has also been a competitive boxer.
 

The employee testified that when he received no workers’ compensation benefits from the employer, he was told about a 30-day limit to report the injury, and so he went to the board to “file for a workers’ comp.,” which led to the filing of his first WCC after talking with WCO Dalrymple.
  

The employee testified that on January 1, 2005, a month-and-a-half before the employer’s controversion, the employee’s house was totally consumed by a fire.  The employee testified that he obtained rental assistance from a Native corporation, but became homeless again after October 2006,
 living at various times in a van, in his car, “couch-surfing” at the homes of friends, or at the Bergman Hotel in Juneau.
  The employee testified that he attempted to work after June 27, 2005, but could not due to pain, primarily in his thoracic back;  he never returned to work for the employer, or any other employer.

The employee acknowledged receiving the controversion filed after Dr. Radecki’s EIME,
 and that he understood after speaking with the employer’s attorney Ms. Rahoi “that all benefits would be stopped.”
  The employee testified that at this point he “panicked” and did not know what to do about the controversion and ceasing of benefits.  The employee testified that he applied for and obtained unemployment insurance benefits, which he received for approximately five months from February to July 2005,
 and after that he subsisted on gifts and loans from friends and family.
  There is no evidence that the employee has ever re-paid the unemployment benefits received, nor entered into an agreement to do so.

The employee testified that DVR provided no vocational retraining program or other services, other than helping the employee obtain some eyeglasses, after Dr. Bursell’s June 27, 2005 evaluation.

The employee denied receiving a copy of the board publication entitled “Workers Compensation and You, Information for Injured Workers.”
  The employee did not testify that he consulted anyone at the board between February 2005 (when he received the employer’s February 15, 2005 controversion) and September 2006 (when he filed a claim for an SIME),
 a period of approximately 19 months.
  The employee testified that he obtained the claim form to seek an SIME from the Juneau office of the board, and filed the completed WCC form on the same day as the blank form was supplied to him.
  The employee testified that after Mr. Dalrymple died, he was to be contacted by “another caseworker” at the board which did not occur for several months after he had filed the claim for an SIME.
  The employee acknowledged receiving the back side of the controversion forms,
 although the employee felt the header language on the form meant the language on the reverse of the form did not apply to him, so he ignored it: 
Q.  Mr. Dennis, on the second page of the controversion notice dated 2/15/2005, could you read what it says on the top of that, that page?

A.  “To employee (or other claimants in case of death) read carefully.”

Q.  Okay.  So, again, I guess I’m reiterating myself, but did you anticipate that this page had to do with people who were seeking some type of death benefit?

A.  I would believe so.  It says “other claimants in case of death,” and it’s in parentheses, so automatically, I didn’t think that one was for me, because I was still alive and trying to get help, and not death benefits.

When asked at hearing, the employee was able to read aloud the information contained on the reverse side of the controversion form.

The employee testified that the address listed for him on the back page of the SIME report by


Dr. Roth was incorrect as to zip code, “99891” instead of the correct zip code of “99802.”
  He testified that he received a copy of Dr. Roth’s SIME report from Griffin & Smith “in the end of June or the beginning of July” 2007.
  When confronted on cross-examination with a copy of Dr. Bursell’s chart note from June 12, 2007 that recites that the employee handed Dr. Bursell a copy of Dr. Roth’s report, the employee was unable to refute the correctness of the date of


Dr. Bursell’s note, and did not deny that the chart note was accurate.
  


2.  Summary of Dr. Bursell’s testimony

Dr. Bursell described the nerve ablation therapy to which the employee’s pain symptoms have been relieved, described that facet joint nerves may grow back, and that the nerve ablation therapy may need to be repeated periodically.
  Dr. Bursell testified that initially he was concerned with whether the employee was magnifying his symptoms, but that “in the end, I don’t think there was any symptom magnification.”
  Dr. Bursell acknowledged that there were “concerns” as to whether the employee could return to work in the construction industry when he evaluated the employee on June 27, 2005.
  Dr. Bursell could not recall whether he discussed his findings of the employee’s limitations with the employee on June 27, 2005.
  Dr. Bursell opined that the employee was not medically stable on June 27, 2005.

Dr. Bursell acknowledged that when he prepared the October 16, 2006 note, he was concerned that the employee might need to return to a lighter-duty position, and likely discussed this concern with the employee.  Although the doctor did not recall precisely when he discussed with the employee the subject of whether he would be able to return to carpentry, he believed that he discussed the subject with the employee at least by October 2006.
  Dr. Bursell also testified that he “very likely” discussed the employee’s need for re-training to a lighter duty position when he examined the employee on December 5, 2006.

Dr. Bursell acknowledged that the employee’s reports of pain have been subjective, and therefore there was an absence of “objective” medical evidence of improvement for the 45-day periods preceding his examination of the employee on September 5, 2006; September 18, 2006; and October 3, 2006.

Dr. Bursell noted that his treatment of the employee demonstrated that “a significant component of his thoracic back pain is from the facet joints in his thoracic spine” and that disc bulging with disc degeneration, with radicular symptoms, is the cause of some of the employee’s low back symptoms.
  Dr. Bursell attributed the September 13, 2004 workplace injury as a significant factor in the employee’s continuing complaints of thoracic and lumbar pain, and of his inability to return to work, and explained why he felt the subsequent episodes of exacerbation of back pain (from the slip and fall while fighting the house fire; while carrying boxes for his mother; while carrying a TV; while lifting a 60 lb. child; and from sleeping in his car) were not sufficient to affect his opinion that the September 2004 injury was a substantial factor in the employee’s inability to return to work as a carpenter.
  Dr. Bursell described the difficulty of diagnosing and treating the employee’s condition, stating “you can’t see pain on an MRI scan.”


C.  Summary of proceedings regarding re-employment benefits:

The employee did not seek re-employment benefits until the filing of his amended WCC dated October 11, 2007, which amended the October 1, 2004 WCC.
  We found no evidence in the written record or testimony that the employee was ever informed by the Division of his right to seek re-employment benefits, of the 90-day deadline for exercising that right, or of the triggering event for starting the 90-day time clock.  On November 13, 2007, the employee through counsel requested the RBA to perform an eligibility determination.
  The RBA’s designee requested evidence of unusual and extenuating circumstances under 8 AAC 45.520.
  The employer’s counsel asserted the request for an eligibility determination was untimely, to the extent the November 13, 2007 request for eligibility determination was based on Dr. Roth’s May 30, 2007 SIME report.
  The employee responded through counsel that unusual and extenuating circumstances existed under 8 AAC 45.520(b)(1), asserting that no doctor predicted permanent injury and inability to return to work within 90 days of the injury; and under 45.520(b)(5), pointing to the employer’s controversion of all benefits.
  The employee, through counsel, argued that the employee had not been given any notice by the Division of his rights and obligations under AS 23.30.041(c), citing and quoting from the current version of the statute.
  The employee also argued to the RBA that the employee was lulled into delay in seeking a settlement, after receipt of Dr. Roth’s report, by a settlement offer letter dated August 24, 2007, which he provided to the RBA designee.
  That settlement offer letter alludes to prior verbal settlement negotiations between the parties, but does not specify the dates of those discussions.

The employer’s counsel responded that the fact that an employee is uninformed or unsophisticated does not relieve the employee of complying with the 90-day deadline; that


“Mr. Slagle is correct that the compensability of this case has been disputed.  However, once


Mr. Dennis received evidence via the SIME report that contradicted the employer’s position on compensability, he had an obligation to promptly contact the Board to request an evaluation.”

The RBA found that there was no evidence the employee knew, or should have known, that he would be unable to return to work as a carpenter within 90 days of injury.  The RBA ruled that the AWCB “has ruled that the employee must request an evaluation no later than 90 days after the employee knew or should have known that they might not be able to return to the work they were doing at the time of injury.”  The RBA designee ruled that “compensability is not an issue,” and that the employee “received the SIME report giving you the first indication that you might not be able to return to your job in June or July 2007,” finding that a timely request for eligibility evaluation would have been in “September or October 2007.”  Because the request was submitted on October 11, 2007 – evidently, the employee’s Amended WCC of that date – the RBA found unusual and extenuating circumstances.

The employer timely filed its petition appealing this decision on February 9, 2007, and an ARH on that petition.
  The employee answered the petition on March 1, 2008, arguing the RBA’s decision to refer for eligibility determination was not arbitrary and capricious, or an abuse of discretion.


D.
Evidence on Attorneys Fees and Costs

The employee’s attorney submitted five itemizations of attorney time and costs expended in prosecution on the employee’s behalf.
  These itemizations, excluding overlap in the statements of time,
 sought the following sums in an award of attorneys fees and costs:



Attorneys fees:   346.8 hours @ $240 per hour:

$83, 232.00




Costs:  CBJ Sales Tax @ 5%:
    
     4,161.60




Costs:  Misc. costs:

    
     4,871.83


E.  Summary of argument at hearing and in briefing

There was extensive argument of the facts and law by the parties in pre-hearing briefing, at the oral hearing, and on the board panel’s invitation, in post-hearing briefing.
  The parties’ respective arguments are summarized as follows.



1.  Arguments of the employee




a.  On the Section .110(c) defense:

The employee argued that the employee’s claims should not be barred under AS 23.30.110(c) because the board and the Workers’ Compensation Division did not adequately inform the employee of his rights, remedies, and how to pursue them, including the 2-year deadline under Section .110(c), and therefore failed its obligation under Richard v. Fireman’s Fund,
 as discussed in Commission decision Witbeck v. Superstructures, Inc.
  The employee argued that under a board decision Aune v. Eastwind
 and cases following it, the running of the Section .110(c) time clock was effectively stopped from September 28, 2006 (when the employee requested an SIME)
 to some time in late June or early July 2007 (when the employee testified he recalled receiving the SIME report) – although in summation argument at hearing the employee’s counsel conceded the employee was uncertain when he received the SIME report.
  The employee argued that this extended the Section .110(c) deadline by 284 days,
 and since the November 9, 2007 ARH was filed less than 284 days after February 18, 2007, the ARH was timely.

The employee argued that the employer paid the 5% PPI per Dr. Roth’s report in March 2008, and that this event had the legal effect of permitting the employee to re-file another claim, seeking benefits retroactive to February 15, 2005, citing the Alaska Supreme Court case of Bailey v. Texas Instruments, Inc.
 and the Commission case University of Alaska v. Hogensen.
  

Citing Tonoian v. Pinkerton Security
 and 8 AAC 45.195, the employee argued that the board can relieve a party of the application of a time deadline under equitable principles.
  The employee argued in the alternative that, by analogy to other decisions of the Alaska Supreme Court interpreting similar statutes of limitation, a general doctrine of equitable tolling should prevent the dismissal of the employee’s claims.
  The employee argued that settlement discussions with the employer’s attorney lulled the employee into a belief that the case was progressing toward settlement, and failed to inform the employee of an impending running of the two-year time deadline.  The employee argued a settlement letter from the employer’s counsel was admissible to support this argument.




b.  On the Section .041(c) appeal:

The employee argued that the October 11, 2007 claim, requesting a re-employment benefits evaluation, was timely because unusual and extenuating circumstances existed under 8 AAC 44.520(b)(1) and (5).  The employee argued that the evidence is overwhelming that the employee is unable to return to heavy duty work, and is in great need of re-employment benefits.  The employee argued the RBA designee’s decision was not an abuse of discretion, and should be affirmed.




c.  On the merits of the employee’s claims:

On the merits of the claims, the employee argued that Dr. Radecki’s opinions should be discounted due to Dr. Radecki’s apparent bias as a hired expert witness,
 and his opinion on degree of impairment and date of medical stability was unsupported by the medical records showing the employee’s continuing reports of pain and treatment for pain, ultimately found treatable only after the employee received nerve ablation procedures under Dr. Bursell’s guidance.
  The employee argued Dr. Bursell’s PPI rating was the most persuasive due to his long term treatment of the employee.

On late payment penalties, the employee pointed out that at the very least, late payment penalties are due on the PPI, based on Dr. Roth’s May 30, 2007 report, where PPI was not paid until March 2008, nearly ten months later.

On the attorneys fees, the employee argued that the claim for attorneys fees and costs was supported by accurate statements of full, actual time spent on the case; full, actual costs; and should be paid in this hard-fought case.  The employee’s counsel, in response to the objection of “block-billing,” agreed to submit a revised set of billings showing the time spent on individual issues, as directed by the board.



2.  Arguments of the employer




a.  On the Section .110(c) defense:

The employer clarified at hearing that the Section .110(c) defense was raised only as to the employee’s claim for additional TTD and medical benefits.
  The employer argued that benefits were barred by operation of AS 23.30.110(c), and that the employee could not, by a later-filed claim or by a newly-filed claim form, revive a claim for benefits otherwise barred by this statute of limitations, citing the Commission’s Hogensen decision.  The employer argued that the board has no discretion to excuse an employee’s failure to comply with AS 23.30.110(c) on equitable grounds, citing Tonoian v. Pinkerton.
  The employer argued that the board’s obligation under Richard v. Fireman’s Fund was met by the provision of the language on the back side of the multiple controversion forms, which the employee admitted he received, and the employer’s failure to read and understand the form was insufficient to excuse the operation of the Section .110(c) time bar.
  

The employer argued that the section .110(c) time clock stopped under the doctrine of Aune v. Eastwind from January 18, 2007
 to May 30, 2007,
 (a period of 132 days), or at the latest to June 12, 2007
 (a period of  145 days).  Because the November 9, 2007 ARH was filed two years, 264 days after the date of the employer’s February 15, 2005 controversion of TTD and medicalall benefits, the employer argued the tolling under Aune v. Eastwind was insufficient to save the employee’s time-barred claims under either approach to calculation of a tolling of the Section .110(c) time clock.  The employer argued that the two-year deadline under AS 23.30.110(c) was less than a month from expiration when the parties reached agreement for an SIME,
 and that the employer’s attorney had no legal obligation to inform the employee of the impending deadline while negotiating with the employee after Dr. Roth’s report was received.  The employer strenuously objected to admission of Ms. Rahoi’s settlement letter, which objection the presiding officer partially sustained (by obliterating the dollar figures in the letter, without objection from the employee), and partially overruled (by permitting the balance of the letter to be admitted, to support the employee’s argument that the letter failed to advise the employee of the impending Section .110(c) deadline).

The employer distinguished the equitable tolling cases as not involving a workers’ compensation context, applying different, irrelevant statutes.




b.  On the Section .041(c) appeal:

The employer argued that the RBA designee’s decision to refer for eligibility determination, based on a finding of unusual and extenuating circumstances, was unsupported by substantial evidence, contrary to law, and otherwise an abuse of discretion.  The employer pointed to numerous points of time in 2005 and 2006 when the board could find that the employee was informed by Dr. Bursell of his opinion that the employee might not be able to return to heavy duty work such as construction, and therefore the employee knew, or should have known, that he possibly might not be able to return to his past employment, triggering the 90-day period for requesting re-employment benefits.
  On this basis, the employer argued the October 11, 2007 claim for a rehabilitation benefits eligibility evaluation was untimely as a matter of fact and law.  The employer argued the board should reverse the RBA’s decision to refer for an eligibility evaluation.  The employer, both in oral argument and in post-hearing briefing, despite prompting by the presiding officer, did not address the applicability of 8 AAC 45.520(b)(5).




c.  On the merits of the employee’s claims:

On the merits of the employee’s claim, the employer urged the board to accept Dr. Radecki’s opinion of no permanent impairment,
 or alternatively SIME physician Dr. Roth’s opinions of at most 5% PPI, with the date of medical stability found by Dr. Roth.  The employer argued that Dr. Radecki’s and Dr. Roth’s opinions were more persuasive because they measured objective range of motion, while Dr. Bursell did not.
  The employer argued the employee lacked credibility as to his reports of pain.  The employer pointed to Dr. Bursell’s deposition testimony confirming multiple points in the medical record when there was lack of objective evidence of medical improvement for the preceding 45 days as a basis for rejecting Dr. Bursell’s opinion of a date of February 28, 2005 for medical stability.
  As to medical benefits, the employer made no argument as to the amount of medical expenses to be paid under the employee’s claim, if found compensable.  The employer argued that everything that was not properly controverted was paid, and paid timely, proper controversions were filed, and therefore the employee is not entitled to late payment penalties or interest.  To the extent the board found the employee’s complaints of pain credible, the employer alluded to several other events, due to circumstances occurring after September 13, 2004, that caused the employee’s pain, and argued that the workplace conditions were not a substantial cause of the employee’s continuing complaints of pain.  The employer argued that the employee’s attorneys fees were inflated and that the rate sought was inappropriate given the number of hours claimed to have been expended on the case by counsel represented to be experienced in workers’ compensation matters, and that the fee affidavits inappropriately lumped multiple services into a block, making it impossible to decipher the time spent on each issue.
 

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. Application of AS 23.30.110(c) to the employee’s claim for additional TTD and medical benefits

AS 23.30.110 (c) provides, in part, “[I]f the employer controverts a claim on a board-prescribed controversion notice and the employee does not request a hearing within two years following the filing of the controversion notice, the claim is denied.”

The time limit of AS 23.30.110(c) runs by operation of the statute.  Dismissal under
AS 23.30.110(c) has been said to be automatic and non-discretionary.
  In Tipton v. ARCO Alaska, Inc.,
 the Alaska Supreme Court noted the language of section 110(c) is clear, requiring an employee to request a hearing within two years of the date of controversion or face dismissal of his or her claim.  The court also noted that the defense of statute of limitations is "generally disfavored," and that neither "the law [n]or the facts should be strained in aid of it."
  In University of Alaska Fairbanks v. Hogenson, the Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission found that, for continuing benefits such as TTD, a new claim for benefits may arise despite the statutory bar to benefits under an earlier-filed claim.
  

The Commission has ruled that the board and its staff have a duty to inform unrepresented parties under Richard v. Fireman’s Fund, 
 that the two-year limit under AS 23.30.110(c) is a “real fact” bearing on the employee’s claim that the board has a duty to convey to the employee, and that a board panel should ensure that the parties adduce facts about whether a claimant was advised of the statutory time bar when it mattered.
  The Southeast panel of the board recently found the Section 110(c) time bar excused, after a failure of effective communication of the 2-year time bar by the Division to an employee, concluding a failure to fulfill the mandate under Richard v. Firemen’s Fund to adequately inform the employee.

After being adequately informed of the 2-year deadline, AS 23.30.110(c) requires an employee to prosecute his or her claim in a timely manner once it is controverted by the employer.  The first controversion filed after the employee files a claim starts the two-year time limitation contained in AS 23.30.110(c).

The employer’s AS 23.30.110(c) defense here is raised only as to the employee’s claim for additional TTD and medical benefits.    The employee filed his first workers' compensation claim on October 1, 2004.  This claim was controverted by the employer on December 8, 2004, but that first controversion was later withdrawn, and TTD benefits were provided until February 18, 2005.  The employer next controverted benefits on February 15, 2005, filed by the board on February 18, 2005.  We find that no affidavit of readiness was filed by the employee within two years of the February 15, 2005 controversion, or its filing on February 18, 2005.  Accordingly, we conclude that additional TTD and medical benefits sought under the October 1, 2004 claimare time-barred by operation of AS 23.30.110(c) unless there is a legal basis for excusing the failure to file an ARH within two years of the original claim.

In this case, we find that the employee was not adequately informed by the board of the two-year deadline under Richard v. Fireman’s Fund.  The employee testified at hearing and in deposition that he was unaware what to do in response to the February 2005 controversion, and that he receive no information from the WCO Dalrymple or other Division staff on the Section .110(c) time bar.  The record revealed the employee profoundly misunderstood the adversarial nature of a workers’ compensation proceeding, when he called the employer’s attorney seeking assistance for medical referral after dissatisfaction with medical services at SEARHC.
  The employee misunderstood the nature of the duties of Workers’ Compensation Division staff, referring to them as “caseworkers,” and evinced the expectation that staff would contact him to assist him in pursuit of his claim.
  The evidence convinced us that the sole means used by the board and its staff at the Division to communicate the Section .110(c) time bar, the language on the reverse side of the controversion form, was ineffective as to this employee who demonstrated limited ability at reading the form with correct comprehension.
  

We find, under AS 23.30.122, that the employee’s testimony about the lack of any instruction or guidance from the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Division about the significance of a controversion filed after a claim has been filed, was credible.  We find the employee’s testimony about being unaware of the 2-year deadline was credible.  We find the employee’s testimony credible that, after he read the heading on the back side of the controversion form, that he (wrongly) concluded it did not apply to him because he was not seeking death benefits, given the employee’s education, training, apparent intelligence, and sophistication as shown to us at hearing, on review of his deposition, and in the rest of the evidence.  Accordingly, we will deny the employer’s petition to dismiss the employee’s claim for TTD and medical benefits under


AS 23.30.110(c).

We next turn to the question of whether the doctrine pronounced in Aune v. Eastwind
 is sufficient to support the employee’s argument of the timeliness of the October 11, 2007 ARH, in the event that our legal conclusions regarding Section .110(c), as applied to the facts we have found in this case, are incorrect.  We have long held that the employee’s participation in the SIME process before the board tolls the running of the Section .110(c) time clock during the SIME process;
 at first blush this case seemed to present the question of precisely what events bracket that “process.” We asked the parties to brief the question of what precise events stop and re-start the Section .110(c) time clock under Aune and other cases applying the principles of that decision.  

The employer cites Rollins v. Icicle Seafoods, Inc.
 for the proposition that the board’s order for an SIME is the definitive act that tolls under Aune.  There is logic for the position that the act of the board, or its designee, in initiating the SIME process effectively prevents the filing of an ARH, because the fact-gathering process is not complete while the board and parties await the completion of the SIME process.  The employer cites Greenwood v. Alaska Fleet Services, Inc.
 on its position that the SIME time clock is re-started by the issuance of the SIME report, unless the SIME process is extended by deposition of the SIME physician or by follow-up questions under 8 AAC 45.092.  The employee cites no contrary authority.

From the employee’s perspective, the most liberal application of the logic of the Aune doctrine is that the Section .110(c) time clock is stopped either by the board’s receipt of evidence showing a material medical dispute
 or by an employee’s request for an SIME that is ultimately ordered by the board on stipulation between the parties, or after litigation, is tolled for as long as the employee cooperates with the SIME process, and is re-started again when the employee (or the employee’s legal representative) receives the SIME report, or the SIME process (such as post-report interrogatories or a deposition) is otherwise completed.
  Only then could an employee affirmatively certify as to completeness of discovery, readiness for hearing, and other matters required to be certified in completing the ARH form.  Delaying the tolling of the time clock until the parties enter into an agreement for an SIME, or (if disputed) until the board enters an order after litigation over whether to order an SIME, can result in significant passage of time.  This view casts doubt on the holding in Rollins because the rule could reward an employer and penalize an employee for delays occurring through no fault of the employee in the board’s order for an SIME, as happened here, where the delay was nearly 4 months from the date the board received evidence of a material medical dispute, and the employee requested an SIME, on September 28, 2006.

The employee requested an SIME when he filed his claim on September 28, 2006.  Although we find the employee’s testimony credible in other respects, we find the evidence refutes the employee’s testimony that he received the Roth SIME report some time in late June or early July, 2007.  Instead we find the employee had received the Roth SIME report on or before


June 12, 2007 (when Dr. Bursell unrefutedly recorded receiving a copy of the report from the employee).  

The time period from September 28, 2006 to June 12, 2007 totals 257 days.  However, the November 9, 2007 ARH was filed 261 days after the filing
 on February 18, 2007 of the employer’s controversion.   Thus even under the most liberal reading that we believe can be made of the principles espoused in the Aune decision and cases applying it, we find that the employee’s ARH was four days too late
 to toll the running of the Section .110(c) time clock.  Because we find, as a matter of fact on the present record, that the employee’s ARH was not timely filed under even the most liberal construction of the Aune doctrine, we conclude it is unnecessary for us to address here the legal question of what events should be held to be the stopping and starting events for tolling purposes.

On the employee’s alternative argument that the board should, in equity, toll the effect of the statute of limitations, we are not convinced that the employee has shown sufficient facts to invoke equitable principles, even if we concluded that we have such authority.  The employee’s testimony was that he was ignorant about the 2-year deadline, but gave no testimony that he relied on any affirmative representation by either the Division or the employer that supports a finding detrimental reliance.  The fact that the employee and the employer engaged in settlement negotiations after receipt of the Roth SIME Report, we find is insufficient to support a claim in equity to toll the running of the Section .110(c) time clock.  However, we also view both the Aune doctrine, and our application of the mandate under Richard v. Fireman’s Fund, as legal (not equitable) excuses from strict application of the two-year deadline under Section .110(c).

We must admit continuing difficulty harmonizing the rules of Bailey and Hogensen as applied to claims for continuing benefits like TTD, despite the assistance of the parties’ briefing and argument.  However, we conclude that we need not address the application of those cases here, since we conclude there is legal excuse from application of AS 23.30.110(c) as a bar to the employee’s claim for additional TTD and medical benefits.

II.   REVIEW OF THE RBA DESIGNEE’S DECISION TO REFER FOR ELIGIBILITY EVALUATION


A.  Standard of review of an RBA determination

Under AS 23.30.041(d), we must uphold an eligibility decision of the RBA absent "an abuse of discretion on the administrator's part."  Several definitions of the phrase "abuse of discretion" appear in the laws of Alaska, although none occur in the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act.  In Sheehan v. University of Alaska,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated abuse of discretion consists of "issuing a decision which is arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or which stems from an improper motive."
  We also consider an agency's misapplication of the law or a failure to exercise sound, reasonable, and legal discretion to fall within the definition of "abuse of discretion.”
 In the Administrative Procedure Act the legislature has provided another definition to be used by the courts in considering appeals of administrative agency decisions.  It contains terms similar to those cited above, but also expressly includes reference to a substantial evidence standard:  

Abuse of discretion is established if the agency has not proceeded in the manner required by law, the order or decision is not supported by the findings, or the findings are not supported by the evidence . . . .  If it is claimed that the findings are not supported by the evidence, abuse of discretion is established if the court determines that the findings are not supported by (1) the weight of the evidence; or (2) substantial evidence in the light of the whole record.
  

On appeal to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission, our decision reviewing an RBA determination is subject to reversal under the abuse of discretion standard,
 and appeals of Commission decisions to the Alaska Supreme Court are reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard of AS 44.62.570, incorporating the substantial evidence test.  Concern with meeting that standard on appeal leads us to apply a substantial evidence standard in our review of an RBA determination. Applying a substantial evidence standard, a "[reviewer] may not reweigh the evidence or draw its own inferences from the evidence.  If, in light of the record as a whole, there is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, then the order . . . must be upheld." 
 

The task of determining whether an abuse of discretion has taken place is aided by our practice of allowing additional evidence into the record at the review hearing.  The practice is based on the rationale expressed in several superior court opinions addressing that issue on appeal of our decisions following the review hearings.
 
Nevertheless, under 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A), we are precluded from considering additional evidence in review of an RBA determination of eligibility under AS 23.30.041(d) if the party offering that evidence has failed to exercise reasonable diligence in developing and presenting that evidence.
  

After allowing the parties to enter their evidence, we review it and the evidence before the RBA [or the RBA Designee] to assess whether an RBA decision was supported by substantial evidence and therefore reasonable.
    If, in light of all the evidence, we find the RBA's decision is not supported by substantial evidence, we conclude that the RBA designee abused discretion and remand the matter for reexamination of the evidence and necessary action.


B.  Referral for Re-employment Benefits Eligibility Evaluation

At the time of the employee’s injury,
 AS 23.30.041 provided, in pertinent part:  

(c)  If an employee suffers a compensable injury that may permanently preclude an employee's return to the employee's occupation at the time of injury, the employee or employer may request an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits.  The employee shall request an eligibility evaluation within 90 days after the employee gives the employer notice of injury unless the administrator determines the employee has an unusual and extenuating circumstance that prevents the employee from making a timely request. . . .

(d)  Within 10 days after the decision, either party may seek review of the decision by requesting a hearing under AS 23.30.110. . . .  The board shall uphold the decision of the administrator except for abuse of discretion on the administrator’s part.

8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A) provides:

For review of an administrator’s decision issued under AS 23.30.041(d), a party shall file a claim or petition asking for review of the administrator’s decision and an affidavit of readiness for hearing.  The affidavit of readiness for hearing may be filed at the same time as the claim or petition.  In reviewing the administrator’s decision, the board may not consider evidence that was not available to the administrator at the time of the administrator’s decision unless the board determines the evidence is newly discovered and could not with due diligence have been produced for the administrator’s consideration.

8 AAC 45.510(b) provides:

The administrator will consider a written request for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits if the compensability of the injury has not been controverted and if the request is submitted together with 

(1) an explanation of the unusual and extenuating circumstances, as defined in
8 AAC 45.520, for a request that is made more than 90 days after the date the employee gave the employer notice of injury; and 

(2) a physician’s prediction that the injury may permanently preclude the employee from returning to the job at time of injury.

8 AAC 45.520(b) provides, in pertinent part:

. . . . An unusual and extenuating circumstance exists only if the administrator determines that within the first 90 days after the employee gave the employer notice of the injury 

(1) a doctor failed to predict that the employee may be permanently precluded from returning to the job at time of injury; 

* * *

(5) the compensability of the injury was controverted and compensability was not resolved 

It is well settled in the board’s prior decisions interpreting the former AS 23.30.041(c) and our regulations, that when a physician’s opinion that the employee may not be able to return to former work arises more than ninety days after report of injury, the employee has 90 days from the date the employee knew, or should have known, of the physician’s opinion, to file a request for re-employment benefits.
  This interpretive ruling, not expressly set forth in the statute itself or any board regulation, of course presumes that the employee has been adequately informed of it by the board’s staff, under Richard v. Fireman’s Fund.

We find, based on evidence adduced at the April 15, 2008 hearing, that the employee received absolutely no information from the board about the 90-day deadline for seeking re-employment benefits.  The only document in writing the employee was shown to have received regarding board procedure was the controversion form; the reverse side of the controversion form is silent on re-employment benefits deadlines.  We find that the December 4, 2004 letter from Ms. Rahoi, is not new evidence, and could have been adduced before the RBA.  Accordingly, we conclude under 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A) that we cannot consider it.  Also, for reasons expressed above, we decline to consider the December 4, 2004 letter from Ms. Rahoi because it was tendered late to the board, after the board panel had closed the evidentiary record.  But even if the letter and its attachments were considered, we find the December 4, 2004 letter and its enclosures is silent about the precise ruling (as set forth in Gillen and cases like it) applicable under the facts. 

We find that the employee raised the inadequacy of information provided to the employee in his correspondence with the RBA designee, but the RBA designee made not factual findings, and did not even discuss this point raised by the employee.  We are mindful of 8 AAC 45..070(b)(1)(A)’s directive to not consider evidence that could have been adduced before the RBA’s designee.  We find that the primary thrust of the evidence before us was the evidence of the employee being informed of the 2-year deadline under AS 23.30.110(c), with little focus on the information, if any, supplied to the employee of his rights and obligations under
AS 23.30.041 (in the form as it existed when the employee was injured).  We find that the RBA designee’s decision letter does not adequately address the point raised by the employee of lack of adequate information to the employee, which we believe was based on Richard v. Fireman’s Fund (although the employee’s counsel did not cite it in his letter).  Accordingly, we conclude that we must vacate the RBA designee’s decision on the basis that it is an inadequate decisional document, and remand it for further consideration and explanation in a decisional document the basis for her decision with regard to the employee’s contention.

The employer argued that the RBA designee abused her discretion in finding unusual and extenuating circumstances here, as a matter of fact and law, because the employee knew, or should have known of a physician’s opinion of the possibility of his inability to return to heavy duty work (such as construction) at least as late as the date of receipt of Dr. Roth’s May 30, 2007 report.  The employer before the RBA focused all of the evidence and argument on when the employee received the May 30, 2007 Roth SIME report.  Both parties adduced evidence at hearing on this issue of when the employee received the May 30, 2007 Roth Report; and the employer also focused Dr. Bursell during his deposition, taken after the RBA had issued her decision, on when he communicated his opinions on re-training to the employee.  We find this evidence, like the December 4, 2004 Rahoi letter, is not new evidence, and could have been presented to the RBA designee,
 and ordinarily we would be precluded from considering it under 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A).  However, we also find that, in the context of both the employer’s RBA appeal, and the tolling doctrine under Aune, the parties litigated the factual question of when the employee received the Roth Report, and the employee did not object to the employer’s questioning of Dr. Bursell.  We conclude each party effectively waived, as to this evidence (but the employee did not waive his objection to the December 4 Rahoi letter) the limitation of
8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A) of the board’s consideration only of the record before the RBA designee.
  Also, the date of the employee’s receipt of the Roth Report was a fact relevant to another issue before the board, that is the date of the re-starting of the Section .110(c) time clock under the Aune doctrine.  We find it would be manifestly unjust, and unduly burdensome to the parties, for the panel to make findings with regard to the date of the employee’s receipt of the Roth Report for some purposes, but ignore these same factual findings for purposes of review of the RBA designee’s decision.

Accordingly, in reviewing the RBA designee’s decision in this case, we find (as above) that the employee had Dr Roth’s SIME report in his possession on June 12, 2007.   We also find that the record shows the employee possessed the October 21, 2006 note from
Dr. Bursell on October 24, 2006, when he submitted it to the board, and that this note discusses the potential need for vocational retraining to a lighter duty position, and therefore as of October 24, 2006, the employee knew, or should have known, of a doctor’s opinion that the workplace injury might permanently preclude his return to carpentry.  We also find that Dr. Bursell testified that he discussed this opinion, that the employee might not be able to return to carpentry, at least as early as October 2006.

Accordingly, we vacate the RBA designee’s decision to refer for eligibility determination, and remand to the RBA’s designee to take note of the record made before the board panel, including our factual findings, gather such additional information as the parties choose to submit, and consider the additional records, facts, and argument on the timeliness of the employee’s application for re-employment benefits, with the proviso that the parties and RBA are bound (unless reversed or vacated on appeal or extraordinary review) by the board’s factual findings of this decision.
 

At hearing during closing oral argument, the board panel’s presiding officer asked the parties to address the applicability of 8 AAC 45.520(b)(5), which defines as an unusual and extenuating circumstance, excusing the failure to file a request for an eligibility evaluation within 90 days of a triggering event, where compensability has been contested on the merits of the employee’s claim.  The employee specifically raised this regulation in his letter to the RBA.
  The employer in essence conceded that the employee was contesting compensability, and argued (without citation to legal authority) to the RBA that the 90-day rule for seeking re-employment benefits was triggered even where compensability was contested, in essence arguing that the subsection of the regulation had not effect.
  The RBA’s designee, nevertheless, found that compensability was not at issue, and never addressed the applicability of 8 AAC 45.520(b)(5).
  

The parties’ treatment of this subissue at hearing and briefing before the board panel has been less than illuminating, the employer having been silent on the issue despite prompting from the board panel for discussion in post-hearing briefing.  We note board decisions describe a rule that for compensability to be contested sufficiently to hold up re-employment eligibility evaluation under 8 AAC 45.510(b), the controversion of compensability must challenge whether the employee’s injury occurred while in the course and scope of employment.
  Such a challenge was not made in this case, where the employer has conceded that injury took place, and occurred within course and scope.  The basis of the employer’s controversion dated February 15, 2005 was that the employee had reached medical stability, without permanent impairment, and thus no longer entitled to TTD or further medical benefits.

However, the board panel did not prompt the parties to address the fine point of whether the board’s interpretation of “compensability” under 8 AAC 45.520(b) should be viewed the same as the board’s concept of “compensability” under 8 AAC 45.510(b) in cases such as Carey.  In our own research, we have found no past board decisions applying the rule of interpretation in Carey to 8 AAC 45.520(b), but we did not prompt the parties to brief this issue, either.

Because the RBA designee did not cite the legal basis for her finding that “compensability is not an issue” – we think the basis may be the line of cases illustrated by Carey
 – and because the parties did not adequately flesh out this legal question before the RBA, we believe it is appropriate to vacate the RBA designee’s decision and remand the matter for further proceedings and a more clearly explained written decision by the RBA designee.  Accordingly, we shall vacate the RBA designee’s January 31, 2008 letter decision, and remand for further proceedings consistent with this decision, including our findings of fact on when the employee first knew or should have known that he might not be able to return to carpentry, and might need retraining to a lighter duty position.  

III.  MERITS OF THE EMPLOYEE’S CLAIM

Having concluded, based on our findings of fact, that the employee’s claim for TTD and medical benefits is not barred by application of AS 23.30.110(c), we now proceed to decide the question of the merits of the employee’s claim for all benefits asserted, with the exception of re-employment benefits.


A.  Presumption analysis:
The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act at AS 23.30.120 provides a presumption of compensability for an employee's injuries.  AS 23.30.120(a) reads, in part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."
The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the disability and employment.
  The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  To make a prima facie case, the employee must present some evidence that (1) he has an injury and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it. "[I]n claims 'based on highly technical medical considerations,' medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.

Once the presumption attaches, substantial evidence must be produced refuting entitlement to the claimed benefit.
  There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability for benefits: (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer a treatable work‑related condition; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the employee’s claimed disability and claimed need for medical benefits are work-related, reasonable, or necessary.
  Merely showing another cause of the disability does not, in itself, rebut the compensability of the claim against an employer.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
  The board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer’s evidence until we have decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee’s injury entitles him to benefits.

The third stage of the presumption analysis provides that if the employer produces substantial rebuttal evidence that the employee is not disabled, or if disabled, the employee’s disability or continuing need for medical care is not work related, the presumption of compensability drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."
  


B.  TTD:

The employee seeks continuing TTD benefits after February 14, 2005, the last date the employer paid TTD benefits.  AS 23.30.185 provides for TTD benefits as follows:

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability. Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

AS 23.30.187 provides:

Compensation is not payable to an employee under AS 23.30.180 or 23.30.185 for a week in which the employee receives unemployment benefits.

AS 23.30.395(16) defines disability as “incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment.”  In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:
The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

The employer controverted the employee’s claim of disability after February 14, 2005, based on
Dr. Radecki’s opinion of medical stability reached on February 4, 2005.  Here, we find that the employee has met his burden to show a preliminary link that he had a workplace-caused injury, that he continued to be totally disabled as defined by AS 23.30.395(16) by that injury after February 14, 2005, and that his disability continued until the date of Dr. Bursell’s opinion of medical stability on February 25, 2008.  We base this finding on the testimony of the employee, portions of Dr. Roth’s SIME report supporting PPI on the lumbar condition, Dr. Bursell’s opinions, the SEARHC physicians’ reports, and the employee’s other medical records, viewed in isolation without being weighed against any of the employer’s evidence.  

At the second stage of the compensability analysis, we look at the evidence tending to refute the employee’s claim for benefits.  We also look at this evidence in isolation, without weighing credibility.  We find that the employer has adduced substantial evidence, viewed in isolation, that  rebuts the employee’s claim of continuing disability.  We find that the employer’s controversion of benefits on and after February 15, 2005 is supported by the opinions of Dr. Radecki, as expressed in his February 2005 and January 2007 reports; as to claims of disability based on thoracic condition, the employer’s position is supported by the SIME report by Dr. Roth, who found no continuing disability based on thoracic condition after the employee’s evaluation by Dr. Radecki; as to claims of disability beyond February 4, 2005 (the date we find Dr. Roth opined medical stability was reached), based on Dr. Roth’s SIME report on the lumbar condition.  Therefore we find the employer has met its burden to refute the employee’s claim for additional TTD benefits after February 4, 2005.

At the third stage of the compensability analysis, all presumptions fall out, and the burden of persuasion shifts to the employee to establish by a preponderance of the evidence his entitlement to his claim for further benefits.  We find that the preponderance of the evidence shows the employee has met this burden.  On continuing temporary total disability after February 14, 2005, we find the employee’s testimony of his continuing pain, and his reports of pain to his medical providers, to be credible and supported by the medical records documenting objectively observed and recorded signs and symptoms, including muscle spasm and pain guarding behavior.  We find the employee’s medical providers continued to provide pain medications to the employee, and although some providers raised the question of potential drug seeking behavior, the temporarily relief after facet injection therapy, and the ultimately longer-lasting relief after nerve ablation therapy under
Dr. Bursell’s guidance, and Dr. Bursell’s opinion that the employee’s reports of pain was genuine, we find outweigh any doubts raised by medical records suggesting possible drug-seeking behavior, including Dr. Radecki’s report of findings of Waddell signs and other “non-physiologic” “psychosocial” signs and symptoms.  Moreover, in this unusual case of thoracic and lumbar facet arthropy, without evidence confirmed on MRI films, we find that drug-seeking behavior could actually support the employee’s claim of continuing extreme pain.  

In weighing the respective reports and opinions of Drs. Radecki, Roth and Bursell, we find
Dr. Bursell’s opinions to be most persuasive and we gave his opinions the greatest weight.  We noted that neither Dr. Radecki nor Dr. Roth had the benefit of Dr. Bursell’s treatment notes throughout 2007 (the SIME binder stops at December 2006), and we discount Dr. Roth’s and
Dr. Radecki’s reports and opinions based on this limitation in the data upon which their opinions were based.  While the employer argued that the range of motion measurements by Dr. Roth and Radecki should induce us to give their reports greater weight, we found Dr. Bursell’s qualifications and experience in permanent impairment rating to be superior, and informed by his long-term treatment of the employee, and found no reason not to accept his DRE method of rating, which does not depend upon a mechanistic measurement of ranges of motion.

Although we noted Dr. Radecki’s mentioning of several episodes of falls or strains (slipping on January 1, 2005 while fighting the fire; carrying boxes for mother; lifting a 60  lb. child) after the employee stopped working for the employer, based on our review of the medical records, and on the opinions of Dr. Bursell which we find most persuasive, we find that these episodes were only temporary exacerbations of the employee’s work-place caused condition, and in any event are insufficient to eliminate the work-place injury as a significant factor in the employee’s continuing inability to return to work.  We find that the preponderance of the evidence did not show that the employee did not suffer from a treatable work‑related condition; and did not eliminate all reasonable possibilities that the employee’s disability and need for medical benefits were work-related.  Accordingly we find that the employee has shown entitlement to additional TTD benefits, from February 14, 2005 until the date we find that medical stability was reached.

Based on our finding, below, that medical stability was not reached until February 25, 2008, and that the employee was continually disabled after February 14, 2005, we find the employee ordinarily would be entitled to an additional 158 weeks of TTD, for the period of time from February 14, 2005 to February 28, 2008.  However, we find the employee received unemployment insurance for 22 weeks (totaling $5,456) during this time period,
 and there is no evidence that the employee has entered into a plan for repayment of the unemployment insurance received.
  Based on these facts we find the employee is entitled to 136 weeks of TTD, subject to modification upon evidence that the unemployment insurance benefits have been repaid, or an agreement has been entered into for repayment.  Accordingly, based on our finding of the employee’s undisputed weekly compensation rate of $832,
 we calculate a total entitlement at this time of $113,152 for unpaid, past TTD benefits.


B.  Medical stability:

AS 23.30.395(27) provides:

"medical stability" means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence[.]

Dr. Radecki’s opinion as expressed in his two reports meets the employer’s burden to establish a date at which the employee reached medical stability.  Dr. Roth’s SIME report does not state a specific date of medical stability.
  As noted above in the summary of the medical evidence, we have carefully examined Dr. Roth’s report, and the SIME Medical Binder, and we see no reference to the January 2007 report by Dr. Radecki.  Accordingly, we find that Dr. Roth also reached the opinion that the employee was medically stable on the same date as Dr. Radecki did, that is, February 4, 2005.  And so we find that Dr. Roth’s report also supports the employer’s position on the date of medical stability.  Finally, the employer has adduced substantial evidence, in the form of the questioning of Dr. Bursell at deposition by Ms. Schwarting on repeated periods of time prior to February 25, 2008 where there was an absence of objectively measured improvement for a period of 45 days.  We view Dr. Bursell’s questions in response to these questions in isolation, without consideration of his ultimate answer and opinion on medical stability.  

On the question of medical stability, once the employer has adduced evidence sufficient to establish a date of medical stability, the burden shifts to the employee to show medical stability.  In application of the presumption under Section .395(27), we conclude the employee’s burden is to prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that medical stability was reached some date after February 4, 2005 (the date Dr. Radecki and Dr. Roth found medical stability), and some date after the dates Dr. Bursell conceded lack of objectively measured signs of medical improvement (September 5, 2006; September 18, 2006; and October 3, 2006).
  

Even though Dr. Bursell admitted at deposition no evidence of objective medical improvement in the 45 days preceding each of those dates, it is also clear that Dr. Bursell prescribed additional treatment on each of the dates of September 5, 2006,
 September 18, 2006,
 and October 3, 2006.
  Thus we find the medical record clearly and convincingly demonstrated Dr. Bursell’s view that the employee was not medically stable on those dates.  As the Supreme Court has noted:

The evidence is easily obtained by examining the treating physician.  That is, the treating physician should have no difficulty offering an opinion on whether or not further objectively measurable improvement is expected.  The 45-day provision simply signals when that proof is necessary.  The alleged difficulty in proving the nonexistence of medical stability, simply fades when viewed in light of the proof actually required. 

We find that neither Dr. Radecki’s nor Dr. Roth’s opinions were informed by the results of the facet injection and nerve ablation therapies, and so we discount them due to this lack of data.  We find that the employee’s unrefuted testimony of inability to obtain referral from SEARHC to Dr. Bursell, until self-referral in 2006, and the trial of conservative treatment under Dr. Bursell’s guidance with additional physical therapy and medication before the facet injections and nerve ablation therapy, provided a legitimate reason for the delay in the employee’s reaching maximal medical improvement by February 28, 2008.
 Although there was one record showing the employee being discharged from Juneau Physical Therapy for “inability to attend,” we find that the medical records show that generally the employee was compliant with his physical therapy and medication regimens.  We find credible the employee’s testimony that he was frustrated with the lack of therapeutic progress with the SEARHC treatment, but nevertheless compliant with his treatment plans.  We find that the evidence shows clearly and convincingly that the employee responded ultimately to the facet injection and nerve ablation therapies.    We find that it was not until the employee was seen by pain specialist Dr. Bursell that additional progress in pain management was seen, before reaching maximum medical improvement in February 2008.  We find that the employee’s continuing subjective reports of pain both in medical records and during his testimony were clearly and convincingly credible, and that his reports of reduction of that pain in response to the facet injection and nerve ablation therapy were similarly clearly, and convincingly credible.  We find that Dr. Radecki’s opinion of the employee’s reports of pain as being “psychosocial” with no physiologic basis was disproven, by clear and convincing evidence of the effectiveness of the subsequent facet injections and ablation therapies.  Thus we find that the evidence shows, clearly and convincingly to us, that the date of medical stability was not reached until the date opined by Dr. Bursell, of February 25, 2008.


C.  Permanent impairment: 

AS 23.30.190 provides, in relevant part:

(a) in case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality. . . the  compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent  impairment of the whole person. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum,  except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041 . . . ."

As noted earlier, the presumption of compensability applies to all claims for benefits.
  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the disability and employment.
   We find Dr. Bursell has evaluated the employee’s PPI at 8% for the thoracic condition, and 8% for the lumbar condition, each by the DRE method, for a combined rating of 15% of the whole person, and therefore the employee has raised the presumption of compensability for his claim for additional PPI.

To overcome a presumption once it attaches, the employer must present substantial evidence that the benefits claimed are not compensable.
   We find the opinions of Drs. Radecki and Roth expressed in their respective reports, viewed in isolation, are substantial evidence to rebut the presumption. 
At the third stage, the employee must prove his claim by a preponderance of the evidence. We find the preponderance of the evidence shows the employee suffers a ratable permanent partial impairment from his work injury while working for the employer.  Specifically, based on the testimony of Dr. Bursell and the employee and our review of the entire record, we find the employee has a permanent partial impairment due to his thoracic and lumbar spine conditions, and this impairment was caused by the employee’s work injury.  Based on Dr. Bursell’s testimony, supported as it is by the entirety of the medical evidence (including the employee’s reports of pain, which we find credible), we find that the preponderance of the evidence shows the work injury was a substantial factor in bringing about the 15% whole person permanent impairment Dr. Bursell assessed.  We find Dr. Bursell performed the PPI rating on March 11, 2008, close to the time the employee reached medical stability.  We find according to the AMA Guides a permanent impairment rating may be performed when the individual has reached maximal medical improvement, or when further recovery or deterioration is not anticipated.
  We find maximal medical improvement correlates well with medical stability in this case.

Drs. Radecki and Roth opined the employee did not sustain any measurable permanent impairment of the thoracic spine as a result of his work activities.  Dr. Radecki attributed the employee’s condition to “psychosocial” factors.  Dr. Roth did opine a 5% impairment of the lumbar spine, based on his conclusion of a permanent exacerbation of the employee’s latent, quiescent degenerative disc condition in the lumbar spine. We find that Dr. Roth, but not Dr. Radecki, acknowledged the employee could not return to his usual occupation.  However, as noted above, we find that Dr. Radecki’s opinions were based on two isolated in-person examinations of the employee before he had reached medical stability, and the opinions merely point to another cause of the disability, but do not ultimately eliminate the work injury as a substantial cause of the disability.
  As to Dr. Roth, we find that it too was based on a single in-person examination of the employee, before he had reached medical stability, and the opinion fails to be informed by and take consideration of the success demonstrated in the facet injection and nerve ablation therapies, which we find are also direct evidence supporting the credibility of the employee’s continuing reports of pain.  

We find Dr. Bursell performed the PPI rating based on his knowledge of the employee through treatment and repeated in-person examinations over an extended period of time, taking into account the patient’s symptoms, diagnostic tests, including imaging studies, and functional status, including activities of daily living, in accordance with the AMA Guides.  We find the employee’s testimony at his deposition and at hearing concerning his symptoms revealed he had continuing symptoms of thoracic and lumbar pain, ever since the September 13, 2004 workplace episode.    In conclusion, we find the record as a whole proves by a preponderance of the evidence that the finding of a 15% whole person PPI impairment as found by Dr. Bursell, with the  work injury at the employer’s being a substantial factor in the 15% whole person PPI rating, is correct.  

On the PPI rating, we find that Dr. Bursell’s opinions, supported as they are by his long-term treatment of the employee, are more persuasive than Dr. Roth’s or Dr. Radecki’s opinions.  Moreover, we find Dr. Roth’s opinion of impairment due to the condition of the lumbar spine, is mostly consistent with Dr. Bursell’s opinion of impairment due to the condition of the lumbar spine – their disagreement is based on the different rating methodologies used (range of motion versus DRE), and we are persuaded that the preponderance of the evidence shows Dr. Bursell’s choice of the DRE method is preferable in this soft-tissue injury, pain-based case. They disagree by 3% on the lumbar spine impairment, and we find more persuasive Dr. Bursell’s rating at the upper end of the DRE Lumbar Category II, as we find the medical records show signs and symptoms of significant muscle guarding, muscle spasm, and non-verifiable radicular complaints, where the clinical history and exam findings were compatible with a specific injury, which we find correctly support rating using the DRE method, and that the Dr. Bursell’s rating is supported by the preponderance of the medical evidence.  

The employer did not dispute Dr. Bursell’s arrival from the separate 8% ratings to the combined 15% value, which we find is supported by the combined values chart of the AMA Guides, 5th Edition.
  Considering all of the foregoing discussion on the appropriate PPI rating for the employee, the preponderance of the evidence shows, and we find, the employee’s whole person impairment due is 15%, all of which is attributable to the work injury of September 13, 2004.  The employer having paid 5% as of March 10, 2008, we find the employee is entitled to an additional 10% PPI as of the date he reached medical stability, February 28, 2008.
Accordingly, we award the employee an additional 10% PPI, or the sum of $17,700.


D.  Medical expenses, including medically-related transport expenses

At the time of the employee’s injury, AS 23.30.095 provided, in part:

(l) An employer shall pay an employee’s bills for medical treatment under this chapter, excluding prescription charges or transportation for medical treatment, within 30 days after the date that the employer receives the health care provider’s bill or a completed report, whichever is later.

(m) . . . Unless the employer controverts a charge, an employer shall reimburse any transportation expenses for medical treatment under this chapter within 30 days after the employer received the health care provider's completed report and an itemization of the dates, destination, and transportation expenses for each date of travel for medical treatment. If the employer does not plan to make or does not make payment or reimbursement in full as required by this subsection, the employer shall notify in writing the employee and the employee's health care provider that payment will not be timely made and the reasons for the nonpayment. The notification must be provided on or before the date that payment is due under this subsection or (l ) of this section.

In the instant case, the only specific evidence of outstanding medical expenses is contained in a single medical summary dated March 28, 2008, setting forth an outstanding balance of $1,761.64 with the Juneau Bone & Joint Center, and $2,273.57 with the Juneau Sport Medicine & Rehabiliation practice group.
  The employee testified about outstanding medical bills, but did not specify amounts.  The filed medical bills, coupled with this testimony, satisfy the preliminary link to the employee’s entitlement to additional medical benefits after February 18, 2004.  There was no evidence of incurrence of medically-related transportation expenses, and we find the employee failed to establish the preliminary link of entitlement to additional benefits on his claim for medically-related transportation expenses.

The employer, in its pre-hearing brief at page 13-14, relied upon the reports of Drs. Radecki and Roth for the proposition that any medical services (other than epidural steroid injections of the lumbar spine at the rate of two per year for two years), essentially arguing that any medical services other than this were either not medically necessary, or were for non-work-related conditions.  We find Dr. Radecki’s and Dr. Roth’s reports on this point to be substantial and sufficient to refute the employee’s proof of need for additional medical benefits, at the second stage of the compensability analysis.  We did not find any evidence in the record to refute the employee’s claim that the outstanding bills submitted with the March 28, 2008 medical summary had been paid, and so we find no substantial evidence in the record to refute the employee’s claim that there are outstanding, unpaid medical bills for medical services resulting from the workplace injury.  

At the third stage of the compensability analysis, we find the preponderance of the evidence shows that medical services provided by Dr. Bursell through his practice of Juneau Sport Medicine & Rehabiliation practice, and his staff, and at the Juneau Bone & Joint Center, were medically necessary, appropriate and efficacious, as demonstrated in the medical records on file.  For the same reasons that we give less weight to the reports of Drs. Radecki and Roth, based as they were on short-term interviews and uninformed by Dr. Bursell’s treatment of the employee throughout 2007.  We find the employee has established by the preponderance of the evidence that the bills have not been paid.  Accordingly, we find the preponderance of the evidence supports the employee’s claim for an additional $1,761.64 (to be paid to the Juneau Bone & Joint Center) and $2,273.57 (to be paid to the Juneau Sport Medicine & Rehabiliation group). 

We deny and dismiss the employee’s claim for additional medically-related transportation expenses.


E.  Penalties:

AS 23.30.155 provides in pertinent part:

(a) Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer. To controvert a claim the employer must file a notice, on a form prescribed by the board . . . .

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid.  Subsequent compensation shall be paid in installments, every 14 days . . . .

(d) If the employer controverts the right to compensation the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death.

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section . . . .

The employee claims penalties for the unpaid TTD, PPI and medical benefits under AS 23.30.155.  Nevertheless, the record reflects that the employer filed a Notice of Controversion, beginning February 14, 2005, under AS 23.30.155(d), denying all benefits for the employee’s thoracic and lumbar spine condition.  The Alaska Supreme Court held in Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc.,
 that an employer or insurer must have specific evidence for a good faith controversion:  

A controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty.... For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.

Because the employer in Harp did not have substantial evidence to support its controversion, the Court found the controversion was not in good faith, and that a penalty was due under 
AS 23.30.155.
  In this case, the employer controverted the employee’s medical benefits based on the opinion of Dr. Radecki, and subsequently on the opinion of Dr. Roth.
  In Bailey v. Texas Instruments Inc.,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held that the opinion of a medical witness can provide substantial evidence sufficient to allow an employer to prevail at hearing, if uncontradicted, and that such an opinion is substantial evidence
 to support a controversion in good faith.
  We find the reports by Drs. Radecki and Dr. Roth provide substantial evidence supporting the employer’s denial of further benefits for the employee’s condition.
  We find the opinions of Drs. Radecki and Roth provide sufficient evidence to support a good faith controversion as to further TTD, medical and other benefits, and in the alternative, as to PPI.  We find the evidence in this case shows the employer’s controversion was made in good faith.  Accordingly, we conclude no penalties are due under AS 23.30.155 at this time. 


F.  Interest:

AS 23.30.155(p) provides, in part:

An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

8 AAC 45.082(d) provides:

Medical bills for an employee's treatment are due and payable within 30 days after the date the employer received the medical provider's bill and a completed report on form 07-6102. Unless the employer controverts the prescription charges or transportation expenses, an employer shall reimburse an employee's prescription charges or transportation expenses for medical treatment within 30 days after the employer received the medical provider's completed report on form 07-6102 and an itemization of the prescription numbers or an itemization of the dates of travel, destination, and transportation expenses for each date of travel. If the employer controverts 

(1) a medical bill or if the medical bill is not paid in full as billed, the employer shall notify the employee and medical provider in writing the reasons for not paying all or a part of the bill or the reason for delay in payment within 30 days after receipt of the bill and completed report on form 07-6102; 

(2) a prescription or transportation expense reimbursement request in full, the employer shall notify the employee in writing the reason for not paying all or a part of the request or the reason for delay within the time allowed in this section in which to make payment; if the employer makes a partial payment, the employer shall also itemize in writing the prescription or transportation expense requests not paid. 

8 AAC 45.142 provides, in part:

(a)
If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.


(b)  The employer shall pay interest. . . .
(3)  on late-paid medical benefits to

(A)  The employee … if the employee has paid the provider … or

(B)  To the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.

AS 23.30.155(p) and our regulation at 8 AAC 45.142 require the payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided at AS 09.30.070(a), from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due.
  The courts have consistently instructed us to award interest to claimants for the time-value of money, as a matter of course.
  Accordingly, we will award interest to the employee, and as to unpaid medical bills, to the unpaid medical provider, in accord with AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142, on all unpaid benefits awarded by this decision, from the dates on which those benefits were due.  

The parties have submitted no briefing on the amounts of interest due on any monies to be awarded, nor as to the unpaid medical bills, when the payments on the bills were due in the case where an employer has controverted all benefits.  We shall direct the parties to set a prehearing conference to discuss the issue of interest on the medical compensation award for the medical bills in this decision, as well as on unpaid TTD
 and PPI.
  If the parties are unable to reach agreement at the pre-hearing conference on interest payable under the award ordered by this decision,
 the matter shall be set for hearing, with each party briefing their respective calculations of interest that should be paid under the award of this decision.


G.  Attorneys fees and costs:

The Act requires that an employee be reimbursed for attorney costs and fees when he or she has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of his or her claim. AS 23.30.145 states, in pertinent part:

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.


The Alaska Supreme Court has consistently protected the employee's entitlement to attorney fees and costs in cases where he or she has prevailed.
  In Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell,
 the Court held that board attorney fee awards should be reasonable and fully compensatory, considering the contingency nature of representing injured workers, to insure adequate representation.

In Underwater Const., Inc. v. Shirley, 884 P.2d 156, 159 (Alaska 1994) the Court stated: 

Where an employer resists payment of benefits, the injured worker must retain an attorney to protect his interests. "The employer is required to pay the attorneys' fees relating to the unsuccessfully controverted portion of the claim because he created the employee's need for the legal assistance." citing Haile v. Pan American World Airways, Inc., 505 P.2d 838, 842 (Alaska 1973) (Rabinowitz, J., dissenting in part, concurring in part).

In this case, the employee filed claims for benefits arising from an injury sustained while working for the employer. Conversely, the employer sought to dismiss all the employee's claims and to provide him no further benefits whatsoever. Our decision on the merits of the employee’s claim finds that the employee was entitled to all the benefits he requested, except that the appeal on re-employment benefits has been remanded, the claim for medically-related transportation costs has been denied for a failure of proof, and the claim for penalties has been denied.  We find, if the employee prevails after remand on no other aspect of the case, Mr. Slagle has been instrumental in obtaining valuable benefits for the employee, which have been disputed and not paid until after his entry of appearance.  We find the employee was successful in pursuit of much of his claims, thanks in no small measure to the efforts of his attorney.

The employee's two affidavits of attorney fees and costs state that attorney fees were charged at $240.00 per hour, without paralegal costs. The employer vociferously objects that the itemizations of time spent are legally inadequate due to the block-billing, that the hours claimed are excessive and inflated, and that the hourly rate sought is unrealistic given the number hours claimed for a case of this complexity.  

With respect to the nature, length, and complexity of Mr. Slagle’s services, the record reflects that: five separate claimed benefits were in contention; numerous documents and medical records were subject to review; two major petitions (one for review of the RBA, one to dismiss the TTD and medical benefits claim) were litigated; several prehearing and post-hearing conferences were conducted; and one 1-hour medical deposition was held.  The parties engaged in significant pre- and post-hearing briefing, on issues the board found unsettled and complex.  Additionally, the record reflects the employee’s counsel expended time associated with medical consultation, extensive document preparation, legal research and writing, brief preparation and hearing attendance. Accordingly, we find the instant case was complex, time consuming and costly for the employee's attorney, as supported by the employee's affidavits and itemizations.

The monetary award in this case totals nearly $140,000, not including interest yet to be calculated, attorneys fees, or CBJ taxes on those fees.  The employee’s attorney reported spending nearly 350 hours in work that involved litigation on virtually every benefit a claimant could be eligible for: temporary and permanent disability benefits, medical benefits, and re-employment benefits.  The employer’s defense has been vigorous and thorough.

Mr. Slagle’s experience in workers’ compensation is remote in time, but he is a very experienced attorney, having worked years in the tort section of the Office of the Alaska Attorney General.  Discounting for extra time spent “boning up” on the fine points of workers’ compensation law, we believe a billing rate of $200 per hour is most reasonable for Mr. Slagle’s time in this case.   We find the total hours claimed to have been spent by Mr. Slagle on the case are not unreasonable given the stakes of the case, and that a discounting of Mr. Slagle’s rate addresses most of the employee’s objection that Mr. Slagle’s billings have been inflated.

In recognition of the employee’s failure to clearly prevail on eligibility for re-employment benefits, which has been remanded and, based on our finding that the employee possessed the October 16, 2006 Bursell note and the Roth report more than 90 days prior to the filing of the employee’s request for an eligibility determination, the employee’s claim for re-employment benefits ultimately may not survive.  We find the employee has not prevailed on the penalty claim under a standard analysis under Harp, and has been found to not be entitled to TTD during periods of receiving unemployment insurance under the AS 23.30.197, a statute not cited by the employee.  The employee cited no legal authority in support of the dollar-for-dollar offset sought for unemployment benefits received.  Under these circumstances, we find it is inappropriate at this time to award more than 60% of the Mr. Slagle’s claimed hours, at the rate we have found appropriate for this case.  We believe this additional discounting will further allay the employer’s objection about “block-billing” and inflated hours.  If the employee prevails in the future on the re-employment benefits claim, we will grant Mr. Slagle leave to file a task-specific itemization of his time spent on re-employment benefits, to the extent he can substantiate the revised itemizations with contemporaneous records of his time spent per issue.

After taking into account the nature, length, complexity and benefits received in this case, and the contingent nature of the case, we find a reasonable award of attorney fees for Mr. Slagle’s work in this case at this juncture to be 209 hours (roughly 60% of the 346.8 hours claimed) at $200 per hour, or $41,800.  CBJ sales tax on that amount at 5% would be $2,090.  We will award the employee’s other full miscellaneous costs, which we find to be undisputed and to be reasonably expended in this case, in the amount of $4,871.83.

ORDER

1.  The employer’s petition to dismiss the employee’s claim for TTD and medical benefits based on application of AS 23.30.110(c) is DENIED.


2.  The RBA designee’s decision is VACATED, and this matter is remanded to the RBA designee for proceedings consistent with this decision, including reconsideration of factual findings based on the record as augmented by the board, and further reconsideration of the applicability of
8 AAC 45.520(b)(5) based on additional legal authorities provided by the parties;


3.  The employee’s claim for additional benefits is GRANTED in part, and DENIED in part, as follows:



a.  the employee is awarded the sum of $113,152 in TTD;



b.  the employee is awarded the sum of $17,700 for permanent partial impairment;



c.  the employee is awarded the sum of $4,035.21 in unpaid medical benefits, to be paid to the medical providers according to this decision;



d.  the employee’s claim for medically-related transportation benefits is DENIED;



e.  the employee’s claim for late payment penalties is DENIED;



f. the employee’s claim for interest is remanded to the Workers’ Compensation Officer for a pre-hearing conference for the parties to prepare calculations of interest, and if agreement cannot be reached, for scheduling of a hearing on interest;



g. the employee is awarded $41,800 in attorneys fees, reserving ruling on the claim for fees for attorney time expended on the re-employments benefit issue, to be resubmitted after resolution on remand to the RBA’s designee based on task- and issue-specific itemization of time spent on the re-employment benefits issue;



h.  the employee is awarded $2,090 in costs for CBJ sales taxes, and $4,871.83 in other costs.

 
4.  We reserve jurisdiction to resolve the interest and attorneys fees claims in accordance with this decision.

Dated at Juneau, Alaska this 22nd day of August, 2008.



ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD























________________________________________________                               


Robert B. Briggs, Designated Chair



________________________________________________



Patricia Vollendorf, Member



________________________________________________



Robert Weel, Member


If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an order staying payment is obtained. 
If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.
APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the board and all other parties to the proceedings before the board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier.  AS 23.30.127.

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of JEROME C. DENNIS, employee / respondent; v. CHAMPION BUILDERS, employer AIG CLAIM SERVICES, INC., insurer / petitioners; Case No. 200413260; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation board in Juneau, Alaska, on August 22, 2008.























______________________________

                                         
John W. Childers, Clerk III
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� The employee had also reported two other back injuries while working with a pick digging a hole on an unspecified date in July 2004, and while pulling carpet on August 17, 2004.  These injuries were not reported because the employee felt he could not take time off from work, and they seemed to resolve.  E.g., 9/14/04 A. Arra, PA-C, Progress/treatment note, SEARHC,  filed in Medical Records, March 13, 2007 (Bates-stamped Nos. 0001-0211), at page 0042.  This black-covered, bound volume of collected, paginated medical records was prepared for an second independent medical examination (SIME), and will be referred to as the SIME Medical Records, at [page #].  For other discussion of the July and August 2004 events, see also 11/26/04 J. Lawrence, PT, Physical Therapy Evaluation, SEARHC, SIME Medical Records at 0049; 2/4/05 P. Radecki, MD, Report on EIME, at page 2, SIME Medical Records at 0100.  There is no evidence that the employee was working for a different employer when the July 2004 or August 2004 events occurred, and the employer has not raised any defense under�AS 23.30.100 as to these episodes that preceded the September 13, 2004 work place events, and has not sought to join another employer as a defendant in this proceeding.


� 4/15/08 Transcript of Proceedings (“Hearing Tr.”) at page 75, line 2 to page 78, line 22 (testimony of J. Dennis); 10/1/04 Workers’ Compensation Claim (“WCC”)(filed 10/1/04), at Blocks 3 (noting date of injury of 9/13/04) and Block 7 (identifying occupation as carpenter); 9/14/04 A. Arra, PA-C, Progress/treatment note, Southeast Alaska Regional Health Consortium, Inc. (“SEARHC”), SIME Medical Records at 0041. The Report of Occupational Injury or Illness, unsigned by the employee, identifies the employee’s position as “laborer,” and places the last date of work as September 20, 2004.  10/4/04 ROI (filed 10/5/04). 


� 9/14/04 A. Arra, PA-C, SEARHC, SIME Medical Records at 0042.


� 9/16/04 G. T. Blair, MD, Report of MRI Thoracic and Lumbar Spine, Bartlett Reg. Hosp., SIME Medical Records at 0043.


� 9/14/04 S. Chandler, PA-C, Progress/treatment note, SEARHC, SIME Medical Records at 0044.


� 9/22/04 A. Arra, PA-C, Progress/treatment note, SEARHC, SIME Medical Records at 0045-46,


� 10/13/04 M. Peterson, MD, Progress/treatment note, SEARHC, SIME Medical Records at 0047 (noting employee “looks uncomfortable” with “marked muscle spasm of the paraspinous muscles of the lower thoracic spine,” noting employee’s condition at that time “is primarily muscular and needs to be addressed with physical modalities”).


� 12/6/04 J. Lawrence, DPT, Progress/treatment note, SEARHC, SIME Medical Records at 0051; 12/20/04 J. Lawrence, DPT, PCC Ambulatory Encounter Record, SEARHC, SIME Medical Records at 0060 (noting continued thoracic muscle spasms).


� E.g., 1/18/07 Transcript of Deposition of Jerome Dennis (“J. Dennis Dep.”), at page 38, lines 3-15; 1/1/05 & 1/3/05 D. Schneider, MD, History & Physical & Chart Note, SEARHC/Juneau Medical Center, filed in SIME Medical Records at pages 0064 and 0092.


� Dr. Radecki also opined only temporary strain from earlier, unreported episodes of back injury in July and August 2004, while working at other tasks for the same employer.


� 2/4/05 P. Radecki, MD, Report of EIME.


� 2/15/05 Controversion (filed 2/18/05).


� J. Dennis Dep., at page 26, line 11 through page 27, line 4; 4/3/08 Transcript of Deposition of John Bursell, MD (“J. Bursell Dep.”) at page 13, lines 4-17.


� 6/27/05 J. Bursell, MD, Office/Outpatient Visit chart note, SIME Medical Records at 0117 & 0119; 6/27/05 J. Bursell, MD, Physical Capacities Form, SIME Medical Records at 0118.


� We take administrative notice that SEARHC (often pronounced “SEARCH”) provides free medical care to Alaska Natives such as the employee in this case.


� See generally SIME 0123-0163.  The records indicate the employee reported on June 12, 2006 that his back was “jarred” during the landing of an airplane, although the SEARHC emergency department note is cryptic as to when this jarring occurred.  6/12/06 B. Riley, MD, Chart note, SEARHC-Mt. Edgecumbe Hospital Urgent Care, filed at SIME Medical Records pages 0133-34.  On July 22, 2006 the employee reported that he exacerbated his back pain when picking up a TV set.  7/22/06 J. Thompson, MD, Emergency Department Note, Bartlett Reg. Hosp., filed at SIME Medical Records pages 0150-51.  On September 16, 2006, the employee reported that he exacerbated his back pain when carrying boxes for his mother.  9/16/06 A. MacPherson, MD, Emergency Department Note, Bartlett Reg. Hosp., filed at SIME Medical Records pages 0187-88; 9/18/06 J. Bursell, MD, Office/Outpatient chart note, filed in SIME Medical Records page 0192.  On November 9, 2006, the employee reported exacerbating his back pain due to lifing a 60-lb. child.  11/9/06 L. Dooley, MD, Ambulatory Care Form, SEARHC Juneau Medical Center, filed at SIME Medical Recordspage  0208.  On December 5, 2006, the employee reported exacerbating his back pain due to sleeping in his car while homeless.  12/5/06 J. Bursell, MD, Office/Outpatient Visit chart note, filed at SIME Medical Records page 0210.


� 6/14/06 D.F. Vanderburgh, MD, Reports of Thoracic and Lumbar MRIs, filed in SIME Medical Records at pages 0135-136. 


� Hearing Tr. at at 166, line 22 through 167167, line 2; 4/3/08 Medical Summary, Attachments (bills noting Medicaid payments).


� J. Dennis Dep. at page 21, lines 19-21.


� 8/8/06 J. Bursell, MD, Office/Outpatient Chart Note, SIME Medical Records at 0164; see also Employee’s Exhibit 18, at [unnumbered] page 2, filed attached to 4/11/08 Supplemental Hearing Brief of Employee (filed 4/11/08).  Although the employee’s exhibit appears to be a complete compilation of Dr. Bursell’s chart notes, unless not contained in the SIME binder, we will continue to refer to Dr. Bursell’s notes in the SIME binder, because they are paginated and permit precise reference.


� 9/18/06 J. Bursell, MD, Office/Outpatient Visit chart note, SIME Medical Records at 0192.


� A poor quality copy of Dr. Bursell’s 9/21/06 note, with sufficient legibility to identify it, was filed with the board on September 28, 2006 attached to a medical summary.  The copy contains the notation “Rcvd – AWCB 9-28-06,” with the initials of Bruce Dalrymple, WCO.  [Unsigned, undated, unserved] Medical Summary (filed 9/28/06).  A second copy of this 9/21/06 note by Dr. Bursell appears in our file, without a file-stamp but with Mr. Dalrymple’s hand-written receipt notation and initials, and also with an original ink notation (also with Mr. Dalrymple’s initials): “gave EE claim for SIME.”  This additional notation of the giving of a claim form is dated 9/28/06 as well.  A third copy of Dr. Bursell’s note, which appears to be an original facsimile transmission of the doctor’s note, suggests the document was faxed from Dr. Bursell’s office on 9/21/06 but the recipient is not identified.  This copy was file-stamped by the board on 12/7/06, with the case number hand-written in the upper right-hand margin.  These same facsimile transmission markings appear in the fourth copy of this note, found in SIME Medical Records 0195, although the bound copy must be disassembled to observe them.  We note that the employee obtained a copy of the board’s file after December 2006, see 1/31/07 J. Dennis, Request for copy of file (erroneously dated 1/31/04, received by the board on 1/31/07), and the employer’s counsel had received this 9/21/06 note by 12/20/06, as indicated by the law firm’s receipt stamp.  See SIME Medical Records at 0195.  We provide each party with a copy of each version of the 9/21/06 note with this decision, because the copies filed with the board, not contained in the SIME binder, are unaccompanied by certificates of service.  


� 10/16/06 J. Bursell, MD, “To Whom it May Concern,” in SIME Medical Records at 0206.  


� See 10/24/06 S. Oldacres, WC Technician, to D. Donley, chief of adjudications, AWCB (conveying a copy of�Dr. Bursell’s 10/21/06 note, stating “[f]ollowing is a document Bruce had requested the claimant bring in for his pre-hearing, scheduled for 10:00 am on Wednesday, October 25, 2006”).  This note from WCO Bruce Dalrymple’s co-worker Ms. Oldacres, occurred 4 business days after his death.  We find this note refers to WCO Dalrymple on this record.  See also SIME Medical  Records at 0206.  It is evident by comparison of the second page of WC Tech. Oldacres’ facsimile transmission with SIME Medical Records at page 0206 that they are the same document, excepting the Griffin & Smith receipt stamp.


� 10/31/06, 12/5/06, 1/2/07, 2/1/07, 3/1/07, 4/3/07, 5/1/07, 5/16/07, 5/25/07, J. Bursell, MD, Office/Outpatient Visit chart notes, filed in 4/4/08 Medical Summary (filed 4/4/08); see also Employee’s Exhibit 18 attached to 4/11/08 Supplemental Hearing Brief of Employee (filed 4/11/08).


� 2/6/07 S. Humphrey, MSPT, Discharge Summary, Juneau Physical Therapy, filed at SIME Medical Records at page 0211.


� 7/25/07 C. Mueller, Physical Therapy Initial Evaluation; 7/26/07 C. Mueller, chart note; 9/5/07 L. Pagenkopf PT, chart note; 9/11/07 L. Pagenkopf, PT, chart note; 10/1/07 L. Pagenkopf, PT, chart note; 10/11/07, L. Pagenkopf, PT, chart note; 10/18/07 L. Pagenkopf, chart note; 10/23/07, L. Pagenkopf, PT, chart note; all filed at Employee’s Exhibit 18, attached to Office/Outpatient


� J. Dennis Dep. At 21, line 2 toage 22, line 23.


� 1/19/07 P.L. Radecki, MD, Report of Examination attached as Employer’s Exhibit K filed with 3/6/08 Employer’s Hearing Brief (filed 3/10/08).


� Dr. Radecki’s January 19, 2007 report is not contained in the SIME binder.  See generally SIME Medical Records.  Dr. Roth’s report does not cite the 1/19/07 Radecki Report, either.


� Dr. Roth’s reports cites review of Dr. Blair’s report of MRI of the lumbar spine dated 9/16/04, but we note the thoracic MRI of the spine, which was reported as normal, is reported on the same page as the report of MRI of the lumbar spine on that date.  We presume Dr. Roth reviewed Dr. Blair’s complete report, although not fully cited in Dr. Roth’s report.  Cf. 5/30/07 Roth SIME report, at page 5, Item 10 (citing Dr. Blair’s report), with SIME Medical Records at page 0043 (Dr. Blair’s single-page report of MRI of both thoracic and lumbar spine).


� 5/30/07 Roth SIME report, at pages 6-7 (reciting Bursell notes reviewed); J. Dennis Dep. At 21, line 22 to page 22, line 5.


� Dr. Radecki performed to examinations of the employee, but there is no citation by Dr. Roth to the second of �Dr. Radecki’s reports.  Dr. Roth’s report was careful to cite the date of each report by each provider that he reviewed.  5/30/07 A.C. Roth, MD, Board Ordered Second Independeent Medical Evaluation (filed 6/6/07), at pages 4-8.  Further, the board found no copy of the second, January 2007 report by Dr. Radecki in the SIME Medical Records.  


� 5/30/07 A.C. Roth, MD, Board Ordered Second Independent Medical Evaluation (filed 6/6/07), at pages 6, 8-10.


� Id. at page 11.  The employer’s counsel received a copy of Dr. Roth’s SIME report on June 7, 2007.  Employer’s Exhibit L, attached to 3/6/08 Employer’s Hearing Brief (filed 3/10/08).


� 6/12/07 J. Bursell, MD, Office/Outpatient Visit chart note, filed in 4/4/08 Medical Summary (filed 4/4/08); see also Employee’s Exhibit 18 attached to 4/11/08 Supplemental Hearing Brief of Employee (filed 4/11/08). 


� 10/8/07 M. Wen, MD, Procedure Note, Barlett Reg. Hosp., filed in id.


� 10/11/07 L. Pagenkopf, PT, Office/Outpatient Visit chart note, filed in id.


� 10/24/07 J. Bursell, MD, Office/Outpatient Visit chart note, filed in id.


� 2/11/08 M. Wen, MD, Procedure Note, Bartlett Reg. Hosp., filed in id.


� 3/3/08 J. Bursell, MD, Procedure Note, Bartlett Reg. Hosp., filed in id.


� 3/18/08 J. Bursell, MD, Office/Outpatient Visit chart note, filed in id.


� See, e.g.,  � HYPERLINK "http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/druginfo/medmaster/a682388.html" �http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/druginfo/medmaster/a682388.html� (printed and filed 8/22/08).


� 7/12/06 L. Dooley, MD, SEARHC Juneau Medical Center Ambulatory Care Form, filed in SIME Medical Records at pages 0141-42 (noting “+ depression”).


� [Undated] J. Bursell, MD, Letter to T.J. Slagle, filed as Employee’s Exh. 16 attached to 4/11/08 Suppl. Hrg. Br. of Employee.  Dr. Bursell at deposition confirmed the date of preparation of the letter was March 11, 2008.�J. Bursell Dep. at page 7, line 17 to page 8, line11 (referring to Bursell Dep. Exhibit 1).





� Id.


� 10/1/04 WCC (filed 10/1/04), at Blocks 24.a and 24.e.


� 10/20/04 B. Dalrymple, WCO, PHC Notice.


� 10/27/04 Answer (filed 11/1/04).


� 11/2/04 B. Dalrymple, WCO, File note.


� 12/8/04 A. Moser-Rahoi, Griffin & Smith, Controversion (filed 12/10/04).


� 12/20/04 A. Moser-Rahoi, Griffin & Smith, Letter to AWCB (filed 12/22/04).


� 2/15/05 A. Moser-Rahoi, Griffin & Smith, Controversion (filed 2/18/05).


� 2/15/05 Controversion Notice, at page 2, filed as Employer’s Exhibit F, attached to Employer’s Hearing Brief.  The symbols that appear in Exhibit F, page 2, reproduced here, appear to have been produced in place of the apostrophes that would normally appear on the board’s form, suggesting that the employer used an electronic version of the controversion notice form. See, e.g., � HYPERLINK "http://labor.state.ak.us/wc/pdf_list.htm" �http://labor.state.ak.us/wc/pdf_list.htm� (website publishing Division forms in PDF format, editable using Adobe Acrobat or similar software).


� 2/16/05 D. Main, claims adjuster, AIG Claim Services, Inc., Compensation Report (faxed  2/18/05).


� 9/28/06 WCC (filed 9/28/06), at Blocks 17 and 24.d, 24.n.


� 10/9/06 B. Dalrymple, WCO, PHC Notice.


� 10/25/06 Bruce Dalrymple Obituary, Juneau Empire reprinted at http://www.juneauempire.com/stories/102506/�/obi_20061025022.shtml (printed and filed 8/22/08).


� 10/25/06 Answer (filed 10/27/06), at pages 1-2.


� 11/21/06 C. Quam for J. Cohen, WCO, PHC Notice.


� 12/18/06 G. Rucker for J. Cohen, WCO, PHC Notice.


� 1/18/07 PHC Summary (served 1/19/07)(reciting the employer’s attorney would present an SIME form to the employee for signature); 1/18/07 SIME Form (dated signed by both employer and employee on 1/18/07).


� 1/18/07 SIME Form, attachments.


� J. Dennis Dep. at 51, lines 7-14.


� 2/13/07 J. Cohen, WCO, PHC Summary (served 2/14/07).


� 6/8/07 J. Sullivan for J. Cohen, WCO, PHC Notice (noticing PHC for 7/25/07).


� 8/28/07 R. Kompkoff, paralegal ass’t, Griffin & Smith, to J. Bailey, AWCB, and J. Dennis (filed 8/30/07).


� 9/26/07 J. Cohen, WCO, PHC Summary (served 10/12/07).


� Id.


� 10/11/07 T.J. Slagle, Notice of Representation, etc. to J. Cohen, WCO, AWCB (filed 10/15/07); 10/11/07 Amended WCC (filed 10/15/07).


� Elsewhere in the Amended WCC, the employee’s counsel noted the employee “has not been evaluated for re-employment benefits.”  10/11/07 Amended WCC, at Block 17.


� 10/11/07 Amended WCC at Blocks 24.d, .e, .g, .i, .j, and .l.


� 11/9/07 ARH (filed 11/9/07).


� 12/19/07 T.J. Slagle, to J. Cohen, AWCB (filed 12/19/07).


� 12/31/07 T. J. Slagle, to J. Cohen, AWCB (filed 1/2/08). 


� 12/19/07 J. Cohen, WCO, PHC Summary.  The employee filed another WCC, specifically amending the�10/1/04, 9/28/06, and 10/11/07 claims, on 4/29/08.  4/29/08 WCC (filed 4/29/08).   No party sought for us to consider this WCC for this decision, and we find no unusual and extenuating circumstances for us to consider it. Because hearing of this claim, to the extent it seeks benefits different from those already sought in earlier claims submitted, was not among the issues listed in pre-hearing summaries filed prior to the 4/15/08 hearing, we do not consider it in this decision.  8 AAC 45.070(g).


� 12/20/07 Petition (filed 12/21/07).


� 1/10/08 Revised Answer (filed 1/22/08).


� 1/17/08 Controversion (filed 1/18/08).


� 3/6/08 Employer’s Hearing Brief, with attached Employer’s Exhibits A through Q (filed 3/10/08); 3/6/08 Hearing Brief of Employee, with attached Employee’s Exhibits 1 through 15 (filed 3/6/08).


� 3/10/08 R. Briggs, HO, Letter to T. Slagle and K. Schwarting, Griffin & Smith.


� 3/13/08 R. Briggs, HO, PHC Summary (served 3/21/08).


� 4/3/08 R. Briggs, HO, Revised PHC Summary (served 4/7/08).


� 4/11/08 Supplemental Hearing Brief of Employee, with attached Employee’s Exhibits 16-21 (filed 4/11/08).


� 4/11/08 Employer’s Supplemental Hearing Brief, with attached Employer’s Exhibits R and S (filed 4/14/08).


� Hearing Tr. at 186, lines 13-17.  The board panel held the record open closing argument and post-hearing briefing.  See id. at 223, lines 13-23.


� The employee also provided testimony by deposition, which we considered.  See generally, J. Dennis Dep.  


� Hearing Tr. at 147, lines 17-21.


� Id.  at  page 73, line 13 to page 74, line 6.


� Id. at page 76, line 7 to page 78, line 22. 


� Id. at page 80, lines 15-17.


� Id. at page 99, line 21 to page 100, line 12; see also J. Dennis Dep. at page 23, line 1 through page 25, line 14.


� Id. at 42, page 19 through page 43, line 20.


� The employee was seen in the Bartlett General Hospital emergency department, after loss of consciousness during a boxing bout in 2001.  The medical records do not reveal any lasting sequelae from this event.  SIME Medical Records at 0012-0017.


� Hearing Tr. at page 81, line 21 to page 82, line 4.


� Hearing Tr. at 108, line 24 – 109, line 3 (assistance from “Tlingit & Haida;” eviction in October 2006); at 176, lines 5-22 (describing housing assistance from “Tlingit & Haida”).


� Hearing Tr. at 176, lines 14-18 (testimony of J. Dennis); see also SIME Medical Records at 0064-0065, 0068-0069, 0092, charting the treatment of the employee for smoke inhalation secondary to this fire.  E.g., 1/18/08 J. Dennis Dep. at page 43, line 21 to page 44, line 3 (living in Bergman, or in van); 5/15/06 L. Dooley, MD, Clinic Visit chart note, SEARHC, filed in SIME Medical Records at page 0123 (“couch-surfing” and homeless).


� E.g., Hearing Tr.at 80, lines 13-17; at 99, line 21 to age 100, line 12; J. Dennis Dep. at page 22, line 24 – page 23, line 9.


� Hearing Tr. at page 91, line 25 to page 92, line 10.


� Id. at page 95, lines 13-19.


� Id. at page 95, line 20 to page 96, line 11; see also 3/15/05, Alaska Dept. of Labor & Workforce Dev., Unemployment Insurance Statement for Jerome Dennis, filed as Employee’s Exhibit 19 attached to 4/11/08 Supplemental Hearing Brief of Employee (filed 4/11/08)(showing employee had 22 weeks of unemployment benefits, as of 3/15/05).


� Hearing Tr. at page 100, lines 17-21.


� J. Dennis Dep., at page 26, line 11 through page 27, line 4.


� Id. at page 99, lines 7-19 (a copy of this document was identified for the record as Board Exhibit 3).  The other two exhibits prepared by the board were not stipulated by the parties, so the board has not admitted them into evidence.  The documents, as marked for identification purposes, remain in the file for review purposes, but we did not rely upon them.


� Id. at pages 70-182 (testimony of J. Dennis); see especially id. at page 95, lines 13-20 (testifying ignorance of how to respond to controversion); at page 101, lines 5-25 (“So basically I was S-O-L….there was no – nothing I could do.”); at page 102, line 23 – page 103, line 16 (testimony about filing claim for SIME in September 2006).


� Id. at 175, line 16 to page 176, line 4.


� Id. at 173, line 12 – page 174,  line 24.


� Id. at page 104, line 15 -22.  Mr. Dennis appears to refer to WCO Cohen as “my caseworker.”  Id. at page 105, lines 8-9.


� Id. at 170, line 4 to page 171, line 7.


� Id. at page 182, lines 6-20.  Although this questioning by employee’s counsel was leading, the employer did not object to it, and in any event is reiteration of earlier, unprompted testimony.  Id. at page 171, lines 11-20 (responding to questioning by panel’s presiding officer).


� Id. at page 178, line 14 to page 180, line 2 (reading from a duplicate of Employer’s Exhibit F, at page 2).


� Id. at 107, line 17 to 108, line16 (describing current mailing address, his mother’s post office box, referring to Employee’s Exhibit 10, page 11 showing “cc” to the employee at correct P.O. box, but incorrect zip code of “99891.”).


� Id. at 109, page 15 to page 112, line 3; see also at 153, lines 7-10.


� Id. at 158, line 16 to page 160, line 11.


� J. Bursell Dep. at page 10, line 11 to page 12, line 5.


� Id. at 16, line 24 to page 17, line 14.


� Id. at 17, line 23 to page 18, line11.


� Id. at 18, line 8 to page 19, line 12.


� Id. at 19, lines 13-17.


� Id. at 34, line 2 to page 35, line 9.


� Id. at 36, line 10 to page 37, line 9; see also 12/4/06 J. Bursell, MD, Office/Outpatient Visit chart note, SIME Medical Records at 0210 (reciting “[w]e discussed vocation issues, and he would like to return to carpentry.  If he is unable to do so he is interested in becoming a building inspector.  I recommended to him that he look into this.”).


� J. Bursell Dep. at 27, line 23 to page 33, line 8.


� Id. at 39, line 5 to page 41, line 6.


� Id. at 48, lines 1- 20.


� Id. at 39, lines 8-25; at 40, line 1 through page 41, line 18.


� 10/1/07 Amended WCC, Blocks 17 (“he has not been evaluated for reemployment benefits”) and 24.g (making claim for review of re-employment benefits eligibility decision).


� 11/13/07 T.J. Slagle to F. Stoll, RBA (filed 11/19/07).


� 12/26/07 F. White, RBA designee, to T. Slagle.


� 1/4/08 K. Schwarting, Griffin & Smith, Letter to F. White, RBA Designee.


� 1/5/08 T.J. Slagle, Letter to F. White, RBA Designee, at page 1.


� Id. at page 2.


� 8/24/07 A.M. Rahoi, Griffin & Smith, Letter to J. Dennis, attached to 1/5/08 T.J. Slagle, Letter to F. White, RBA (filed 1/7/08).  The employer at hearing objected to admission of another copy of this settlement offer letter, duplicated as Employee’s Exhibit 11.  See note 166, infra.  No motion was made before the RBA to strike the unredacted copy of the letter that is attached to 1/5/08 letter from attorney Slagle.


� See Employee’s Exhibit 11(as redacted) attached to 3/6/08 Employee’s Hearing Br..


� 1/17/08 K. Schwarting, Griffin & Smith, Letter to F. White, RBA, AWCB (filed 1/17/08).


� 1/31/08 F. White, RBA designee, Letter to J. Dennis.


� 2/9/07 Petition (filed 2/11/08); 2/9/08 ARH (filed 2/12/08.  Another copy of the petition was filed on 2/12/08..


� 3/1/08 Answer to Employer’s Petition (filed 3/3/08).


� 3/7/08 Affidavit of Thomas J. Slagle, with attached Itemization dated  3/6/08 (filed 3/7/08)(for time and expenses, 9/28/07 to 3/6/08); Employee’s Exhibit 21, Itemization dated 4/11/08 attached to 4/11/08 Supplemental Hearing Brief of Employee (filed 4/11/08)(for time and expenses, 3/7/08 to 4/11/08);  4/15/08 Affidavit of Thomas J. Slagle, with attached Itemization dated 4/15/08 (filed 4/15/08)(for time, 4/13/08 to 4/15/08); 5/29/08 Affidavit of Thomas J. Slagle, with attached Itemization dated 5/29/08, filed attached as Employee’s Exhibit 27 to 5/29/08 Post-Hearing Brief of Employee (filed May 29, 2008)(for time and expenses, 4/13/08 to 5/29/08); 6/13/08 Affidavit of Thomas J. Slagle, with attached Itemization dated 6/13/08)(for time and expenses, 6/2/08 to 6/13/08), filed attached to 6/13/08 Employee’s Reply to Employer’s Post-Hearing Brief (filed 6/13/08).


� The statement of time expended in the 4/15/08 affidavit filed at hearing was duplicated  (and augmented due to 2 additional hours spent in hearing) in the 5/29/08 statement.


� A total of 8 briefs were filed, 2 pre-hearing briefs, a post-hearing brief, and a post-hearing reply brief, by each party.  The parties were requested to brief on the applicability of Faust v. Municipality of Anchorage, AWCB Dec. No. 07-0156 (June 18, 2007), the reversal of which was issued after the parties’ post-hearing briefs, but prior to the parties’ post-hearing reply briefs, Municipality of Anchorage v. Faust, AWCAC Dec. No. 078 (May 22, 2008).


� 384 P.2d 445, 449 (Alaska 1963).


� AWCAC Dec. No. 020 (Oct. 5, 2006).


� AWCB Dec. No. 01-0259 (Dec. 19, 2001).


� The employee pointed out at hearing that the employer’s position on the tolling under Aune was inconsistent, noting that in the employer’s petition raising the Section 110(c) defense, the employer admitted the tolling began with the filing of the claim seeking an SIME, on September 28, 2006.  Hearing Tr. at 198-199 (argument of Mr. Slagle).


� Employee’s Reply to Employer’s Post-Hearing Br. at page 3; Hearing Tr. at 200.


� Hearing Tr. at 200-01.  During opening argument the employee counted 240 days of tolling under the principles of the Aune v. Eastwind decision.  4/15/08 at page 46, line 4 (argument of Mr. Slagle).


� 111 P.3d 321 (Alaska 2005).


� AWCAC Dec. No. 074 (Feb. 24, 2008).


� AWCAC Dec. No. 029 (Jan. 30, 2007).


� Employee’s Reply to Employer’s Post-Hearing Br. at 4.


� Employee’s Reply to Employer’s Post-Hearing Br. at 5 (citing Gudenau & Co. v. Sweeney Ins., Inc.).


� E.g., Hearing Tr. at pages 10-11 (Mr. Slagle arguing the relevance and admissibility of a settlement offer letter under Rule 408, Alaska Rules of Evidence).


� E.g., 4.15/08 Hearing Tr. at pages 37-38.


� E.g., Hearing Tr. at pages 196-97.


� Hearing Tr. at page 207-08.


� Employee’s Reply to Employer’s Post-Hearing Brief, at p. 1, n. 2; Hearing Tr. at page 208.


� Like the exhibit submitted by the employer attached to its post-hearing brief, see note 160 infra, the employee submitted (without request to reopen the evidentiary record) additional exhibits attached to its 5/29/08 Post-Hearing Brief of Employee (filed 5/29/08).  We did not note any objection by the employer to the late-filed exhibits, which in any event appear to be copies of documents already on file with the board, with the exception of Employee’s Exhibit 21 (a copy of the employer’s disbursement to the employee dated March 8, 2008, evidently to cover Dr. Roth’s 5% PPI rating).  We admitted and considered these late-filed exhibits because (1) the employer did not object to them, (2) because Employee’s Exhibits 22 through 26 were already of record (but for the marking for identification), and (3) because we believe the Employee’s Exhibit 27 (a supplemental fee affidavit) was properly submitted.  At hearing the employer’s counsel admitted that a check had been issued in the amount of $8,850 to the employee, as confirmed on the employer’s 3/10/08 Compensation Report (duplicated as Employee’s Exhibit 22), and so we admitted and considered Employee’s Exhibit 21 on that basis.


� Hearing Tr. at page 212, lines 17-21.


� Hearing Tr. at page 57 (argument of Ms. Schwarting).


� Without request to re-open the record, with its post-hearing brief the employer submitted a copy of a letter dated December 8, 2004, purportedly addressed to the employee, with enclosed statutes, as evidence that the employee had actual notice of the two-year time deadline of AS 23.30.110(c).  Attachment to 5/30/08 Employer’s Post-Hearing Brief.  The employee objected to admission of this evidence after the board panel closed the evidentiary record, where the employee had not had opportunity to be examined on this evidence.  We sustain that objection, and did not consider the letter, which was not presented to the employee for verification either during his January 2007 deposition, nor at the April 2008 hearing.  Even if the document were admitted, based on his misreading of the simplified version of the statute on the controversion form, we find this employee would not likely have understood the two-year time deadline, had he carefully read the finely-printed rendition of AS 23.30.110(c), accompanied as it apparently was with copies of  seven other statutes, and in any event we find the employee lost all of his papers in the fire that consumed his home on January 1, 2005, after this letter was purportedly sent.  The employer’s controversion came after the fire, and the board’s failure to inform mattered most when the employer had stopped  paying benefits.  Therefore we conclude the December 8, 2004 letter from Ms. Rahoi is irrelevant, and give it no probative value in this decision.


� This is the date the parties agreed to an SIME.  The employer argued, citing Omar v. Unisea, Inc. AWCAC Dec. No. 053 (Aug. 27, 2007), Rollins v. Icicle Seafoods, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 07-0071 (Apr. 3 2007), and Connors v. Ivory Jacks, AWCB Dec. No. 06-0306 (Nov. 17, 2006) that the tolling under the Aune v. Eastwind decision begins when either the board orders an SIME, or the parties agree to one, whichever is earlier, but not when the employee requests one.  Hearing Tr. at 53, lines 16-25; Employer’s Post-Hearing Br. At page 4, nn.14-15 and accompanying text.  Ms. Schwarting candidly acknowledged this position to be a shift in legal argument from statements in the employer’s 12/20/07 Petition, based on further analysis of caselaw.  Hearing Tr. at 213.


� This is the date the SIME report was issued.  The employer argued, citing Omar v. Unisea, and Greenwood v. Alaska Fleet Svcs., Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 04-0096 (Apr. 28, 2004) that the date of issuance of the SIME re-starts the Section .110(c) time clock unless there is some further post-SIME discovery, such as a deposition of the SIME physician or interrogatories to the SIME physician.  Hearing Tr. at 54-55; Employer’s Post-Hearing Br. at 4, n. 17 and accompanying text.


� This was the date that Dr. Bursell recorded being handed a copy of Dr. Roth’s SIME report by the employee, indicating the employee received the SIME report at least as early as June 12, 2007.  Hearing Tr. at 214, lines 4-14.


� Hearing Tr. at 55, lines 14-18.


� Id. at page 122, line 5 to page 124, line 18.  Consistent with this evidentiary ruling, the board has similarly redacted a copy of this same settlement letter filed before the RBA.  1/5/08 T.J. Slagle, Letter to F. White, RBA Designee, attaching 8/24/07 A.M. Rahoi, Griffin & Smith, Letter to J. Dennis, and has not considered those figures in making our decision.  Rule 408, Ak. R. Civ. Proc.


� Hearing Tr. at 215.


� Hearing Tr. at 60-62.


� E.g., Employer’s Post-Hearing Br. at 5-7; Employees Post-Hearing Reply Br. at 4.


� E.g., Hearing Tr. at 53 (argument of Ms. Schwarting against allegation of Dr. Radecki’s bias).


� Id. at 218.


� Hearing Tr. at 59.


� Hearing Tr. at 220-21.


� See, e.g., Hornbeck v. Interior Fuels, AWCB Dec. No. 08-0072, at 4, n. 2 (Apr. 17, 2008)(citing authorities); Beaman v. Kiewit Construction, AWCB Decision No. 06-0101 (April 27, 2006);  Pool v. City of Wrangell, AWCB Decision No. 99-0097 (April 29, 1999); Westfall v. Alaska International Const., AWCB Decision No. 93-0241 (September 30, 1993).


� 922 P.2d 910, 912, 913 (Alaska 1996); accord, Hornbeck v. Interior Fuels, AWCB Dec. No. 08-0072, at 4, n. 5 and accompanying text (Apr. 17, 2008).


� Id. at 911.


� AWCAC Decision No. 074 (February 20, 2008) at 17.


� 384 P.2d 445, 446 (Alaska 1963).  Accord, Dwight v. Humana Hosp. Alaska, 876 P.2d 1114, at 1120 (Alaska 1994)(discussing Richard).


� Alaska Airlines v. Nickerson, AWCAC Dec. No. 021 (Oct. 19, 2006), at 13-15 (remanding to board for findings of fact).


� Austin v. Norquest Seafoods, Inc., AWCB Dec. no. 08-0114 (June 18, 2008).


� The board’s regulation, 8 AAC 45.090(a), provides that proceedings are commenced by “filing a written claim or petition.”  In turn, a claim is defined by 8 AAC 45.090(b)(1) as “a request for compensation, attorney’s fees, costs or medical benefits . . .under the Act.”


� J. Dennis Dep. at 21, lines 2-21.


� Hearing Tr. at 104, lines 15-22; at 105, lines 7-11.


� See Richard v. Fireman’s Fund, Inc., 384 P.2d at 448 (failure of board to instruct employee how to proceed for order for out-of-state medical care for eye condition; employee’s eye lost); Dwight v. Humana Hosp. Alaska, 876 P.2d 1114, at 1120 (Alaska 1994)(board duty to inform of right to request SIME); Austin v. Norquest Seafoods, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 08-0114 (June 8, 2008)(failure to adequately inform of Section .110(c) deadline, denying defense).


� AWCB Dec. No. 01-0259 (Dec. 19, 2007).


� E.g., Connors v. Ivory Jacks, AWCB 06-0306 (Nov. 17, 2006), at 5 (citing cases).


� AWCB Dec. No. 07-0071 (Apr. 3, 2007).


� AWCB Dec. No. 04-0096 (Apr. 28, 2004).


� The employer also cited Omar v. Unisea, Inc., AWCAC Dec. No. 053 (Aug. 27, 2007), but we could see not clear ruling in that case on the question of the definitive acts that toll and re-start the Section .110(c) time clock.


� We noted that the Richard v. Fireman’s Fund case began with a correspondence from a physician filed with the board, and an apparent failure of the board to apprise the employee of the legal significance of this physician’s correspondence. In finding the board had failed it’s duty to the employee in that case, the Court in Richard cited other case opinions with strongly-worded descriptions of a workers’ compensation board’s fiduciary duty to an employee that had filed seeking an award of benefits.  384 P.2d at 449, n. 15, citing Cole v. Town of Miami, 52 Ariz. 488, 494, 83 P.2d 997, 1000 (Ariz. 1938)(workers’ compensation board owed fiduciary duty to applicant to reveal prognosis of total disability known by board-mandated physician before employee entered into settlement of permanent disability claim); Yurkovich v. Industrial Accident Bd., 132 Mont. 77, 82, 314 P.2d 866, 869-71 (1957)(quoted)(duty of board to “see that [employee’s] rights under the law were protected”), citing Miller v. AETNA Life Ins. Co., 101 Mont. 212, 220, 53 P.2d 704, 708-09 (1936)(duty of board to investigate misleading and incorrect postings of notice of insurance by employer).  See Dwight v. Humana Hosp. Alaska, 876 P.2d at 1120 (board duty to inform of right to request SIME).


� See, e.g., Aune v. Eastwind, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 01-0259 (Dec. 19, 2001), pet. rev. den., 3 AN-02-3918 CI (Alaska Sup’r Ct., Feb. 21, 2002)(holding that the employee’s knowledge of need for SIME prevents filing of an ARH until SIME is provided); but see Rollins v. Icicle Seafoods, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 07-0071 (Apr. 3, 2007)(dictum that only a board order stops the Sec. .110(c) time clock; actual holding that employee never produced medical evidence showing a material dispute, to support an SIME; mere unsupported request for SIME insufficient to apply the Aune tolling doctrine).  


� AS 23.30.110(c) speaks of the date of filing a controversion.  Viewing the statute most favorably for the employee, as we conclude we must given the disfavor shown to dismissal of a case on less than the merits, we interpret “filing” to mean the date of the board’s file-stamping of the controversion as received by the board.


� Recognizing the proximity of these two time periods, from the perspective of the holdings in Dwight, Richard, and the cases on which they are based, we carefully examined and re-examined the record for any evidence of the board receiving Dr. Bursell’s 9/21/06 note any earlier than 9/28/06.  Although different versions of the 9/21/06 Bursell note show a facsimile transmission date of 9/21/06, we have found no affirmative evidence that the note was received by the board any earlier than 9/28/06, which is the same date the employee filed his claim seeking an SIME.


� There is mounting Commission authority casting doubt that any such equitable authority, whether implied or express, may be applied by the board to relieve a party of the Section .110(c) statute of limitations.  See Gauthier v. State of Alaska, AWCAC Dec. No. 052 (Aug. 24, 2007), at page 5, note 11, citing Crawford & Co. v. Baker-Withrow, 73 P.3d 1227, 1229 (Alaska 2003) (holding 8 AAC 45.195 is no authority for board to waive a statutory requirement under equitable principles); Univ. of Alaska v. Hogensen, AWCAC Dec. No. 074, at 17, n. 89 and accompanying text (Feb. 28, 2008)(holding board must provide hearing at which employee may present evidence of facts or “some legal excuse” for relief from the operation of AS 23.30.110(c)), citing Tonoian v. Pinkerton Security, AWCAC Dec. No. 029, 11, n. 55 (Jan. 30, 2007)(citing to mental competency statutes as potential legal basis for relief from AS 23.30.110(c) where employee meets mental incompetence standards of AS 23.30.140 and other statutes); Bohlman v. Alaska Constr. & Eng’g, AWCAC Dec. No. 023 (Dec. 8, 2006), at pages 11-13 (discussing and distinguishing board’s equitable authority, as recognized by the Alaska Supreme Court and expressly granted in�AS 23.30.100 and AS 23.30.105(a), but not expressly granted in AS 23.30.110(c)).  But see Berean v. Coleman Bros. Timber Cutting, AWCAC Dec. no. 051 (Aug. 2, 2007), at 5, text accompanying n. 13 (“any implied equitable authority should be limited to cases where the appellant was prevented by filing on time under circumstances recognized by the courts as allowing administrative agencies to exercise equitable powers in like cases”)(citations omitted). 


� 700 P.2d 1295, 1297 (Alaska 1985).


� 700 P.2d at 1297; Tobeluk v. Lind, 589 P.2d 873, 878 (Alaska 1979)(footnote omitted).


� See, Manthey v. Collier, 367 P.2d 884, 889 (Alaska 1962); Super v. Providence Hospital, AWCB No. 90-0042 (March 12, 1990); Black's Law Dictionary 25 (7th ed. 1999).


� AS 44.62.570.


� AS 23.30.128(b).


� Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1049 (Alaska 1978)(footnotes omitted).


� See, e.g., Kelley v. Sonic Cable Television, 3AN 89�6531 CIV (Alaska Ct. of Appeals, February 2, 1991); Quirk v. Anchorage School District, 3AN�90�4509 CIV (Alaska Ct. of Appeals, August 21, 1991).


� See, Snell v. Interstate Brands Corp., AWCB Decision No. 99-0110 (May 12, 1999); Kin v. Norcon, AWCB Decision No. 99-0041 (March 1, 1999); Lemire v. B&R Construction, AWCB Decision No. 99-0019 (January 28, 1999); Buxton v. Cameron Corporation, AWCB Decision No. 99-0005 (January 8, 1999). 


� See, Yahara v. Construction & Rigging, Inc., 851 P.2d 69 (Alaska 1993).


� We also invited briefing from the parties on the applicability to this case of the current version of�AS 23.30.041(c) in light of the Northern panel’s decision in the case of Faust v. Municipality of Anchorage, AWCB Dec. No. 07-028 (May 22, 2008).  That case was reversed, and the Commission has squarely held that the current form of AS 23.30.041(c) has no retroactive applicability to cases where the date of injury occurred prior to November 7, 2005.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Faust, AWCAC Dec. No. 078 (May 22, 2008), at pages 10-21; see also Pacific Log & Lumber v. Carrell, AWCAC Dec. 047 (June 29, 2007), denying extra. rev., questioning Carrell v. Pacific Log & Lumber, AWCB Dec. No. 07-0096 (Apr. 23, 2007)(decision vacated under consent agreement).


� E.g. Gillen v. Glen Mills Construction, AWCB Dec. No. 00-0255 (Dec. 12, 2000).


� See Omar v. Unisea, Inc., AWCAC Dec. No. 53, at page 6-7 (Aug. 27, 2007)(remanding board decision for inadequate decisional document).


� Although Dr. Bursell’s chart notes appear to have been late-produced to both parties, there was no record made of what efforts either party made to obtain those chart notes prior to the RBA designee’s decision.  The chart notes showing receipt of the Roth SIME report pre-dated the RBA designee’s decision by at least six months.


� See 8 AAC 45.050(f)(3)(parties’ ability to stipulate to different procedures before the board); 8 AAC 45.195 (procedure before board subject to waiver or modification).


� While we find that Dr. Bursell testified that he was thinking the employee might not be able to return to his former work when Dr. Bursell performed a vocational evaluation on referral from DVR in June 2005, we also find Dr. Bursell did not recall communicating that opinion to the employee at that time.


� See, e.g., Cook v. Assets, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 08-0146 (Aug. 18, 2008), at 15-16 (remanding to RBA for further fact-finding).  We note recent Commission precedent suggests a remand from the Commission is unnecessary where the new evidence adduced before that appeals tribunal conclusively establishes the outcome, making a remand unnecessary.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Faust, AWCAC Dec. No. 078, at page 23, n. 73 and accompanying text, quoting Irvine v. Glacier Gen. Constr., 984 P.2d 1103, 1104 (Alaska 1999).  However, we are unaware of legal authority applying a similar rule to a board’s review of an RBA decision, although this case appears to be very analogous where the evidence at the board’s hearing was clear and unrefuted that the employee possessed the 2007 Roth SIME report on June 12, 2007, and appears clear and unrefuted that the employee submitted the October 21, 2006 Bursell note to the board on October 24, 2006.  Each of these dates is more than 90 days prior to the date the employee requested re-employment benefits.  However, we decline to apply a similar rule here, particularly where there was also equally unrebutted evidence that the employee was uninformed of the 90-day deadline under former AS 23.30.041(c), as interpreted by the board’s decisions such as Gilen.  Remand will permit the employee to fully develop that evidence before the RBA by affidavit, deposition, or otherwise.


� 1/5/08 T.J. Slagle, to F. White, AWCB, at page 1.


� 1/17/08 K. Schwarting, Griffin & Smith, to F. White, at page 2.  Past board decisions have directly refuted the employer’s unsupported argument.  Richards v. Heartwood Constr., Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 05-0205 (Aug. 8, 2005), at   page 26 (“Even if an employee knows or should have known there was a possibility that his current injury might prevent him from permanently returning to his job with the employer, there may still be situations under 8 AAC 45.520(b) which excuse an untimely request for a reemployment eligibility evaluation.”); Oakley v. Denali Foods, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 02-0170 (Aug. 29, 2002)(were employee failed to seek re-employment benefits within 90 days, reversing RBA decision of no unusual and extenuating circumstances where RBA failed to apply 8 AAC 45.520(b)).  


� 1/31/08 F. White, Letter to J. Dennis, at page 1 (“[a] review of your file shows compensability is not an issue . . . .”).


� Carey v. Native Village of Kwinhagak, AWCB Dec. No. 08-0042 (Mar. 4, 2008), at pages 13-15 (discussing cases).


� See also, e.g., Sherrod v. Sheraton Hotel Anchorage, AWCB Dec. No. 08-0113 (June 16, 2008)(granting reconsideration on employer’s challenge to application of Carey doctrine); Manor v. Alaska Railroad Corp., AWCB Dec. No. 08-0115 June 20, 2008)(discussing Carey and “course and scope” analysis of compensability under 8 AAC 45.510(b)).


� Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669, 675 (Alaska 1991).


� Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).


� Burgess Const. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312 (Alaska 1981).


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


�Smallwood, 623 P.2d at 316; DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90, 96 (Alaska 2000); Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� DeYonge, 1 P.3d at 96; Grainger, 805 P.2d at 977.


� Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 611, 612 (Alaska 1999). 


� Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 871.


� Id. at 869.  


� Norcon v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994).


� Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 870.   


� Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964). 


� 524 P.2d 264, 266 (Alaska 1974).


� Employee’s Exhibit 19, filed with 4/11/08 Supplemental Hearing Brief of Employee; testimony of the employee.


� The Alaska Supreme Court in Alyeska Pipeline Service Co. v. DeShong, 77 P.3d 1227, 1237 (Alaska 1993), held that TTD benefits would be due for any week of temporary disability in which the employee had received unemployment benefits, if the unemployment benefits were reimbursed; see also Chesser v. Tire Distribution Systems, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 07-0339, at 18, n. 88 (Nov. 9, 2007).


� 10/18/04 Compensation Report at Block 17.f (filed 10/22/04).


� The parties have not supplied a calculation of offset for Social Security benefits received, and there is no evidenced that these benefits received were awarded based on disability.   Employee’s Exhibit 20, filed with 4/11/08 Supplemental Hearing Brief of Employee.  On this record we decline to order an offset.  The parties remain free to stipulate or petition for such an offset on an affirmative showing that such an offset is required here, with sufficient evidence to permit the board to make the offset calculation, if the parties are unable to agree on the calculation.  See, e.g., Donovan v. VECO, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 08-0116 (June 20, 2008)(discussing and calculating Social Security offset).


� 5/30/07 Roth SIME Report, at page 10, response to question 7.


� Dr. Bursell refuted Jun27, 2005 as a date of medical stability, noting that he recommended further treatment at that time.  6/27/05 J. Bursell, MD, Office/Outpatient Visit chart note, SIME Medical Records at 0117-18 (recommending directed physical therapy program and postural exercise program).


� 9/5/06 J. Bursell, MD, Office/Outpatient Visit chart note, SIME Medical Records at 0182 (prescribing continuation of physical therapy).


� 9/18/06 J. Bursell, MD, Office/Outpatient Visit chart note, SIME Medical Records at 0192 (recommending bone scan).


� 10/3/06 J. Bursell, MD, Office/Outpatient Visit chart note, SIME Medical Records at 0192 (prescribing continued physical therapy; recommending discontinuation of cyclobenzaprine; prescribed Celebrex).


� Municipality of Anchorage v. Leigh, 823 P.2d 1241, 1246 (Alaska 1992).
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